TERNZ 2022



Proceedings of the 15th Tertiary Education Research in New Zealand (TERNZ) Conference Dunedin, 23 - 25 November 2022

Conference organisation by HERDSA Aotearoa/New Zealand,

Editors

Eva Heinrich, Te Kunenga Ki Pūrehuroa | Massey University

Alison Jolley, Te Whare Wānanga o Waikato | University of Waikato

Linda Rowan, Te Kunenga Ki Pūrehuroa | Massey University

ISBN: 978-0-473-66139-7

Publisher: HERDSA Aotearoa/New Zealand

Copyright

Copyright for the proceedings as a whole belongs to HERDSA Aotearoa/New Zealand. Copyright for individual abstracts contained in the proceedings is vested in each of the authors in respect of his or her contributions.



Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	2
REVIEW POLICY	2
OREWORD	2
FERNZ PROGRAMME 2022	3
FERNZ HOST GROUP INFORMATION 2022	7
PRE-CONFERENCE WORKSHOP ABSTRACTS	9
Cross-institution collaborative research projects	.10
Professional development and professional accreditation in teaching: Needs, opportunities, and pathways	
Publishing your tertiary education research: A workshop with journal editors	.13
POSTER ABSTRACTS	.14
Chatbots in Education [Jayasuriya]	.15
Do we still need a Learning Management System (LMS) for teaching and learning? [Linford].	.16
DyslexicMinds@Massey: Managing Text-Based Course Materials [Rowan]	.17
Disrupting the silence: Hearing the voices of disabled doctoral students [Sanderson]	.19
SESSION ABSTRACTS	.20
Challenges and solutions for integrating employability in traditional course design [Ashton] .	.21
The embedding of the Sustainable Development Goals in teaching in New Zealand universities: An exploratory study [Bathula]	.23
Motivational regulation strategies: An opportunity to improve student wellbeing and academic performance? [Edmonds]	.25
- uture modes of delivery in higher education: The evolution of lecture capture [Evans]	.27
Understanding educational innovators in universities: An intrapreneurial perspective [Fox]	.29
ast straw or golden thread: Teaching only academics and the scholarship of teaching and earning (SoTL) [Geertshuis]	.31
Work, study, sleep, repeat: The wellbeing of students who work while they study [Geertshu	_
Walk a mile in my shoes: Postgraduate researchers' experiences [Geertshuis]	.35
Do you enjoy stress? Learning away from the campus as an offshore international student [Gong]	.37
Students as scholars and the scholarship of student learning [Harland]	.39
Supporting online communication: Comparing Discord to other software tools [Heinrich]	.40
The writing retreat: Structured portions to a 'writing menu' of options [Heyligers]	42

Zooming marvellous: Creating effective active learning experiences within synchronous online-teaching platforms at university [Junpath]44
Creating robust interactive academic transition support for development of academic integrity and academic skills in students with interrupted learning caused by Covid-19 in first year business education [Kilkolly-Proffit]
Can video production projects teach students anything: A scoping review of health professions education literature [Liu]
Undertaking Appreciative Inquiry into academic practices developed and used in a Covid-19 world [Lythberg]50
'Fofola le fala' – inviting everyone on to the mat. Embedding Pacific pedagogies and culture into the Pacific & Global Health major at the University of Otago [Mapusua]53
What can we learn from reflecting on academic identities in higher education? [Mori]54
Operating under the radar: Uniting in a Community of Practice [Rowan]56
Using three years of qualitative student feedback to improve course design and delivery [Scott]
Teacherpreneurship: An integrated framework and its practicality among the 21st century university teachers [Shawkat]59
I did it my way: Academic-decision-making explored through a Bourdieusian social-theory lens [Shephard]61
Student attendance: before, during and after a pandemic [Shephard]63
Scaffolding personal and professional development opportunities for doctoral students beyond supervision [Sim]65
The implementation of pastoral care in residential colleges: First-year student and subwarden perspectives and experiences of pastoral care [Spronken]67
Preparing PhD candidates for careers: can we do better? [Spronken-Smith]68
Medical Students' Perspectives of Evaluation and Research Requests [Tater]69
Constructing a 'worthwhile gap' statement to justify research in higher education studies [Wald]71
Caring for students in the post-pandemic university: the challenge for tutors and sessional staff [Wood]72

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Conference Convenors: Rob Wass, Julie Timmermans Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou |

University of Otago

Organising Committee: Qian Liu, Candi Young, Leighton Williams

Reviewers: Martin Andrew, John Augeri, Chelsea Blickem, Erik Brogt, Angela

Clark, Christy Collis, Michael Edmonds, Lisa Hatfield, Wilkinson Jenny, Heyligers Josta, Barbara Kensington-Miller, Bernadette Kruger, Tania

Helen Leach, Elizabeth Levin, Mohammad Al Bukhari Marzuki,

Manjet Kaur Mehar Singh, Yoko Mori, Linda Ng, Linda Rowan, Farah Shawkat, Kerry Shephard, Kwong Nui Sim, Kathryn Sutherland,

Jessica Tater, Charlene Willis

Host group leaders Tanya Evans, Tony Harland, Linda Rowan, Rachel Spronken-Smith,

Sheena Townsend,

Conference day helpers Jasbir Singh, Anushika Kariyawasam, Rui Ma, Claire Hudson,

Soovendran Varadarajan, Yoko Mori

Umbrella Organisation: HERDSA New Zealand (https://herdsa.org.nz)

REVIEW POLICY

All abstracts have been peer-reviewed by review groups. Review group recommendations were discussed by members of the review committee before decisions were made.

FOREWORD

We are very pleased to be able to welcome the delegates of the 2022 TERNZ Conference to Dunedin. Since 2002, TERNZ has been an important event for New Zealand's tertiary education research community.

The conference has a special format that truly facilitates discussion and exchange. Both presenters and participants gain new insights from the sessions. The host groups facilitate understandings across the parallel streams and ensure that everyone's voice is heard.

As in previous years, the TERNZ conference programme offers a wide variety of interesting topics. We are looking forward to the discussions to be held over the three conference days and the long-lasting connections that will be forged.

Finally, a word on the organisation of these proceedings to help you find your way around: abstracts are presented in three sections (workshops, posters, and sessions) and arranged alphabetically by (first) author surname.

We hope you enjoy the TERNZ 2022 experience!

Eva Heinrich, Alison Jolley, and Linda Rowan (on behalf of the review committee)

Rob Wass, Julie Timmermans (conference convenors)

TERNZ PROGRAMME 2022

All sessions are in the St David Lecture Theatre Complex

Please note that the programme was correct at the time of printing. The latest version is available online at https://sway.office.com/OKKIV4jeIjSOxTbz?ref=Link

Wednesday, 23 rd November 2022							
1.30 Onv	vards	Registration Desk Opens – St David Lecture Theatre Complex - Downstairs					
14:00 17:00		Workshop	Workshop	Workshop			
		Publishing your	Cross-institution	Professional			
		tertiary	collaborative	development and			
		professional					
		research: A	Seminar Room C G.03	accreditation in			
	workshop with			teaching: Needs,			
		journal editors	opportunities, and				
	Seminar Room A		pathways				
		G.02		Seminar Room D G.04			
17:00	18:00	Poster session – drinks and nibbles- St David Lecture Theatre Complex -					
		upstairs					





	Thursday, 24 th November 2022							
8.30 Or	nwards		Registration D	esk Opens – St David Lo	ecture Theatre Comple	x - Downstairs		
9:00	9.25	Conference opening – mihi whakatau G02 and G02A						
		Parallel Session One						
		Room A. G02	Room B. G02A	Room C. G03	Room D. G04	Room E. 101	Room F. 102	
9.30	10.25	Zooming marvellous:	The embedding of	Motivational	Future modes of	Scaffolding personal	Preparing PhD	
		Creating effective	the Sustainable	regulation	delivery in higher	and professional	candidates for	
		active learning	Development Goals	strategies: An	education: The	development	careers: can we do	
		experiences within	in teaching in New	opportunity to	evolution of lecture	opportunities for	better? [Spronken-	
		synchronous online-	Zealand	improve student	capture [Evans]	doctoral students	Smith]	
		teaching platforms	universities: An	wellbeing and		beyond supervision		
		at university	exploratory study	academic		[Sim]		
		[Junpath]	[Bathula]	performance?				
				[Edmonds]				
10.30	10.55			Morni	ng Tea			
11.00	11.55			Host group :	Session One			
				Parallel Se	ssion Two			
		Room A. G02	Room B. G02A	Room C. G03	Room D. G04	Room E. 101	Room F. 102	
12.00	12.55	Medical Students'	Creating robust	Do you enjoy	What can we learn	Supporting online	The writing retreat:	
		Perspectives of	interactive	stress? Learning	from reflecting on	communication:	Structured portions	
		Evaluation and	academic transition	away from the	academic identities	Comparing Discord	to a 'writing menu'	
		Research Requests	support for	campus as an	in higher	to other software	of options	
		[Tater]	development of	offshore	education? [Mori]	tools [Heinrich]	[Heyligers]	
			academic integrity	international				
			and academic skills	student [Gong]				
			in students with					
			interrupted learning					
			caused by Covid-19					
			in first year					
			business education					
			[Kilkolly-Proffit]					





1.00	1.55	Lunch						
2.00	2.55	Host group Session Two						
3.00	3.25	Afternoon Tea						
				Parallel Ses	ssion Three			
		Room A. G02	Room B. G02A	Room C. G03	Room D. G04	Room E. 101	Room F. 102	
3.30	4.25	Work, study, sleep, repeat: The wellbeing of students who work while they study [Geertshuis]	Student attendance: before, during and after a pandemic [Shephard]	Can video production projects teach students anything: A scoping review of health professions education literature [Liu]	Undertaking Appreciative Inquiry into academic practices developed and used in a Covid- 19 world [Lythberg]	'Fofola le fala' – inviting everyone on to the mat. Embedding Pacific pedagogies and culture into the Pacific & Global Health major at the University of Otago [Mapusua]	The implementation of pastoral care in residential colleges: First-year student and sub-warden perspectives and experiences of pastoral care [Spronken]	
4.30	5.25	Host group Session Three						
6.30	Late	Conference dinner Takeichi 91 St Andrew Street						





	Friday, 25 th November 2022								
		Parallel Session Four							
		Room A. G02	Room B. G02A	Room C. G03	Room D. G04	Room E. 101	Room F. 102		
8.30	9.25	Walk a mile in my	Caring for students	Teacherpreneurship:	I did it my way:				
		shoes: Postgraduate	in the post-	An integrated	Academic-decision-				
		researchers'	pandemic	framework and its	making explored				
		experiences	university: the	practicality among	through a				
		[Geertshuis]	challenge for tutors	the 21st century	Bourdieusian social-				
			and sessional staff	university teachers	theory lens				
			[Wood]	[Shawkat]	[Shephard]				
9.30	10.25			Host group S	ession Four				
10.30	10.55			Mornir					
				Parallel Se	ssion Five				
		Room A. G02	Room B. G02A	Room C. G03	Room D. G04	Room E. 101	Room F. 102		
11.00	11.55	Operating under the	Understanding	Challenges and	Using three years of				
		radar: Uniting in a	educational	solutions for	qualitative student				
		Community of	innovators in	integrating	feedback to				
		Practice [Rowan]	universities: An	employability in	improve course				
			intrapreneurial	traditional course	design and delivery				
			perspective [Fox]	design [Ashton]	[Scott]				
12.00	12.55	Lunch (including Branch AGM)							
				Parallel Se					
		Room A. G02	Room B. G02A	Room C. G03	Room D. G04	Room E. 101	Room F. 102		
1.00	1.55	Constructing a	Last straw or golden	Students as scholars					
		'worthwhile gap'	thread: Teaching	and the scholarship					
		statement to justify	only academics and	of student learning					
		research in higher	the scholarship of	[Harland]					
		education studies	teaching and						
		[Wald]	learning (SoTL)						
			[Geertshuis]						
2.00	2.55	Heat areas Consider Files							
		Host group Session Five							
3.00	3.55	Host Group Presentations and Conference Close							





TERNZ HOST GROUP INFORMATION 2022

Ōwheo (Water of Leith) Tony Harland (Lead) Room A G02

Qian Liu

Erik Brogt

Rob Wass

Amanda Wood

Farah Shawkat

Susan Geertshuis

Kate Pedley

Martin Walsh

Michelle Kilkolly-Proffit

Soovendran Varadarajan

Leighton Williams

Kaikarae (Kaikorai Stream) Sheena Townsend (Lead) Room B G02A

Eva Heinrich

Susan Tull

Laurie Avia

Megan Anakin

Keely Blanch

Michael Edmonds

Sue Gough

Jess Tater

Jasbir Singh

Kwong Nui Sim

Chulainn Sowerby

Puke-haukea (Lindsay Creek) Tanya Evans (Lead) Room C G03

Kathryn Sutherland

Bridget Fox

Deepika Jindal

Kerry Shephard

Hanoku Bathula

Kate Absolum

Sophie Briggs

Rana Daoud

Rui Ma

Herbert Sima

Dulani Jayasuriya





Orokonui Rachel Spronken-Smith (Lead) Room D G04

David Cox
Nave Wald
Thomas Cochrane
Jennifer Scott
Shireen Junpath
Abby Spronken
Shanmugapriya (Priya) Aravazhi
Josta Heyligers
Anushika Kariyawasam
Talai Mapusua
Wender Lemos Martins

Pipikaretu Linda Rowan (Lead) Room E 101

Leigh Quadling-Miernik
Raj Shekhawat
Yoko Mori
Kim Ashton
Tiffany Trotman
Billie Lythberg
Natalie Fleming
Hoa Luong
Brad Hurren
Claire Hudson
Ana Stojanov





PRE-CONFERENCE WORKSHOP ABSTRACTS





Cross-institution collaborative research projects

Assoc Prof Barbara Kensington-Miller, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland b.kensington-miller@auckland.ac.nz

Interested in networking and researching with others across New Zealand? Want to meet other researchers and collaborate?

This pre-conference workshop is an opportunity to meet other researchers (experienced and early-career) and develop a collaboration for a new project related to Higher Education through guided facilitation.

The workshop will begin with a facilitated brainstorming session on big ideas related to the HERDSA Strategic Plan. Ideas will be gathered and collated, and collaborations [maximum of 6] formed according to interest. The projects will then be developed again with guided facilitation to identify research questions, methodology, resourcing required and more. It is intended that these collaborations will be cross-institutional, with at least one emerging researcher in each, if possible.

Suitable projects (up to four) will receive funding (see Awards and HERDSDA NZ Grant Scheme) of \$2000 contingent on a successful workshop at the TERNZ conference, follow-up work with each group and a suitable proposal submitted by end of March 2023.





Professional development and professional accreditation in teaching: Needs, opportunities, and pathways

Prof Raj Shekhawat, Flinders University, Australia
Associate Prof Thomas Cochrane, The University of Melbourne, Australia
Associate Prof Erik Brogt, Te Whare Wānanga o Waitaha | University of Canterbury, New Zealand

In this workshop, we will explore professional development needs and opportunities for professional development, mentoring and professional accreditation / recognition available for the higher education community.

Whether you are an academic, an academic developer or educational technologist, professional development and mentoring are things we can all benefit from. There is a strong and sustained evidence that effective mentoring is associated with positive personal and career outcomes for mentees and mentors (Johnson & Ridley, 2004). For example, Johnson and Ridley (2004) identify desirable elements for mentees from the literature, including: accelerated promotion rates and career mobility; enhanced professional identity and competence; improved levels of career satisfaction; a sense of greater acceptance within their organization; and decreased job stress. In addition, Johnson and Ridley (2004) list benefits to mentors identified in the literature, such as: personal satisfaction and fulfilment; career revitalization; recognition by their organization for developing capacity; and the joy of shaping future generations.

Our engagement with professional accreditation schemes (HERDSA, AdvanceHE, SEDA & CMALT) created several professional development opportunities such as; working with face to face and virtual TATAL community, working on research project sparked via discussion with mentor such as; development of E-mentoring model (Tisdell & Shekhawat, 2019) based on the use of innovative technology and assisting others in advancement of their academic practice; mentoring CMALT accreditation through the CMALT cMOOC (Cochrane & Narayan, 2017a, 2017b, 2019) and evaluating the impact of professional accreditation in response to the Covid19 pandemic (Cochrane & Jenkins, 2022). Determining which professional accreditation scheme is most suited for you can be a bit of a journey (Brogt, 2021).

Some of these schemes come with mentoring as part of the programme, but that is only for the duration of the route to Fellowship. There is a strong and sustained evidence that effective mentoring is associated with positive personal and career outcomes for mentees and mentors (Johnson & Ridley, 2004). We will reflect on how we, as a community of practice, can mutually support and mentor one another. To be effective, professional development needs to be grounded in a conscious reflection on personal and professional needs. As part of a HERDSA Small Grant, we explored the knowledge base of educational developers to establish professional development needs.

This workshop will be run in a hybrid fashion as part of a HERDSA Academic Development SIG activity to allow colleagues from Australia to join in. Colleagues can Zoom in as well as attend in





person. Depending on the number of in-person and virtual attendees, we will have small group and whole group discussions and reflections.

Outcome 1 – Inform the colleagues of the results of the HERDSA Small Grant study regarding the self-reported skills, knowledge, and core competencies of educational developers. We will reflect as a group in a safe, collegial, and collaborative space on the currency of these results considering COVID, and on our professional development and professional accreditation / recognition needs.

Outcome 2 – Participants will be offered insights about the various criteria/components of professional accreditations via a panel discussion with Fellowship holders (HERDSA, AdvanceHE, SEDA & CMALT).

Outcome 3 – Creating a joint action plan for professional development opportunities for participants, with learning outcomes associated with each activity. We will discuss how and in what way we can make a professional development programme a reality.

Outcome 4 – Creating networks for applying knowledge beyond TERNZ 2022. The participants will be encouraged to take part in the community of practice (such as HERDSA Academic Development SIG and others). They will be offered continuous support for peer development and recognition in the form of peer feedback virtually or face to face depending upon the location of the participants.

References:

- Brogt, E. (2021). Engaging with different professional recognition and development opportunities for academic developers. International Journal for Academic Development, 26(4), 477-480. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1360144X.2020.1840380.
- Johnson, W. B., & Ridley, C. R. (2004). Elements of Mentoring. New York, NY: St Martins Press. Tisdell, C. C. and G. S. Shekhawat (2019). "An Applied E-Mentoring Model for Academic Development, Reflection, and Growth." International Journal for the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning 13(2).
- Cochrane, T., & Jenkins, M. (2022). Professional Accreditation Pathways in HE: enabler or block to TEL professional development? In R. Walker & D. Forbes (Eds.), Learning to teach online: Continuing professional learning and development for tertiary teachers (pp. In Print). Springer.
- Cochrane, T., & Narayan, V. (2017a, 5-7 September). An Agile and Scalable Professional Development Strategy: The CMALT cMOOC Project. ALT Annual Conference 2017: Beyond islands of innovation how Learning Technology became the new norm(al), University of Liverpool, UK.
- Cochrane, T., & Narayan, V. (2017b, 4-6 December). CMALT cMOOC: Developing a scalable lecturer professional development framework. Me, Us, IT! Proceedings ASCILITE2017: 34th International Conference on Innovation, Practice and Research in the Use of Educational Technologies in Tertiary Education, University of Southern Queensland, Toowoomba, Australia.
- Cochrane, T., & Narayan, V. (2019). Good Practice No. 7: CMALT cMOOC. Open Virtual Mobility Project. Retrieved 19 September from https://hub.openvirtualmobility.eu/mod/hvp/view.php?id=1350





Publishing your tertiary education research: A workshop with journal editors

Kathryn Sutherland (former Co-Editor of the International Journal for Academic Development and current Board Chair for the Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management)

Eva Heinrich (Executive Editor of Advancing Scholarship and Research in Higher Education and former Co-Lead Editor of Australasian Journal of Educational Technology)

Kwong Nui Sim (Associate Editor for Australasian of Journal Educational Technology, International Journal for Academic Development, Issues in Educational Research, and Journal of University Teaching & Learning Practice)

Are you interested in publishing your research on tertiary education or the scholarship of learning and teaching (SOTL)? Come and workshop your ideas with editors from various journals, including HERDSA's various publications and the International Journal for Academic Development. The editors will take you through some of the key issues to consider when looking for a suitable publication outlet, and will answer your questions about writing, researching, reviewing, and publishing in higher/tertiary education. The session is designed for everyone, including those who are new to, or experienced in, writing about their teaching and learning and/or tertiary education.

We'll help you explore:

- how to select an appropriate journal/publication outlet;
- framing your proposal and preparing a strong manuscript;
- making your reviewers' tasks easier from the outset and responding to their feedback positively;
- maintaining good relationships with your editor;

Throughout the workshop, you'll be developing concrete plans for your own research project and you will end with an action plan for the next few weeks of productive writing.

Learning outcomes:

By the end of this session, participants will have:

- 1. Identified various outlets for potential publication of their scholarship;
- 2. Formulated a project proposal for publication;
- 3. Walked through various peer-reviewed publishing processes to help you plan your writing project;
- 4. Undertaken to be held accountable and hold another participant accountable for making progress on a research project to be submitted for peer review





POSTER ABSTRACTS





Chatbots in Education [Jayasuriya]

Dulani Jayasuriya, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, d.jayasuriya@auckland.ac.nz

The research and its significance

Artificial Intelligence is changing the way students learn and absorb information thereby enabling educators to provide a personalized learning environment. The objective of this study is to develop a chatbot to aid instructors and students to navigate a large undergraduate course. The chatbot would enhance meaningful student interactions, collaboration and contribute to the innovative ed-tech world. The bot developed in this study is programmed to answer questions about deadlines, lesson plans, graduate profile and curriculums. Thus, this chatbot can save time for lecturers, tutors and all teaching team members so that they can focus on more high-level interactions with students, stay current on new standards and assessment models.

From a student's perspective, this chatbot can help students obtain answers anytime to necessary and vital course details, how to navigate through the course, be reminded of necessary assessment deadlines in a way that feels as if they are interacting with another individual. This chatbot would result in time efficiencies and is most helpful especially for large classes with more than 100 students. The chatbot is designed to engage and increase interactions from students from diverse educational streams. disengaged students, off campus students and students with disabilities. Finally, using machine learning and artificial intelligence allows bots to draw context from a conversation and reply in a way that is personal, engaging, and conversational.

And each task that a bot is able to handle instead of an educator allows us as educators more time to focus on our primary role: educating!





Do we still need a Learning Management System (LMS) for teaching and learning? [Linford]

Peter Linford, Royal New Zealand Yacht Squadron, pzlinford@gmail.com
Kwong Nui Sim, International College of Management Sydney Australia, knui@icms.edu.au

The research and its significance

During the global pandemic, New Zealand's largest learn to sail programme continued with adult students attending the recorded Zoom theory lessons that could then be accessed on YouTube. For the practical part, the students were introduced to an app for virtual sailing experience, and they came for their on-water session when the Covid restrictions eased. The student evaluation in 2020 and 2021 reveals that the students enjoyed the online synchronous theory lessons especially when they could re-watch the recording after the lessons to learn certain skills at different individual paces (e.g., tying different knots).

Therefore, in 2022, we piloted a learning portal (SharePoint and/or WordPress) for the Level-1 course to increase the meaningful learning experiences for students. Adopting a theoretical framework (Kim et al., 2021) that integrated technology acceptance model (TAM) and theory of planned behaviour (TPB), we redesigned the original in-class theory lessons into eight self-paced modules. Each module is a short video clip that covers a topic followed by a short auto-graded quiz, and the modules are sequenced in a scaffolding manner. The students receive feedback straightaway, and they can compare their scores with other students in an anonymous manner. They can re-do the quiz if they wish to and the answers for each question are randomised in every attempt. Even though the modules are displayed in a sequential format and the students are recommended to do so, they could re-visit any module(s) as frequent as they need to.

The preliminary evaluation data is overwhelmingly positive, both for students and teachers. While the learning portal is still in the developing phase, the positive user experiences and the improved learning outcomes surface the question if we still need LMS for teaching and learning in higher education. Perhaps it is time to create the learning online and not online learning per se.

Reference

Kim, E.-J., Kim, J.J., & Han, S.H. (2021). Understanding student acceptance of online learning systems in higher education: Application of social psychology theories with consideration of user innovativeness, *Sustainability*, *13*, 896. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13020896





DyslexicMinds@Massey: Managing Text-Based Course Materials [Rowan]

Linda M Rowan, Te Kunenga Ki Pūrehuroa | Massey University, L.M.Rowan@massey.ac.nz Ruth Gibbons, Te Kunenga Ki Pūrehuroa | Massey University, R.Gibbons@massey.ac.nz Nicola Macauley, Te Kunenga Ki Pūrehuroa | Massey University, N.G.Macaulay@massey.ac.nz

The research and its significance

The Aotearoa New Zealand Tertiary Education Strategy prioritizes the achievement and wellbeing of all learners, recognizing that as learners change, education organizations need to be responsive: to listen, adapt and empower learners to achieve their aspirations (Tertiary Education Commission Te Amorangi Mātauranga Māori, 2020). Yet, while there is emerging recognition of the presence of neurodivergent students in tertiary study, there is little understanding of the learning challenges faced by specific groups of these students. Our Dyslexia Awareness Community of Practice (DA-CoP) is a small group of teacher-researchers who seek to raise awareness of learning with dyslexia and the benefits of dyslexic thinking within the university and wider Aotearoa community, and support learners' study and teachers' practice. We use humanistic methodologies believing what is experienced by individuals reflects their lived reality within particular contexts, and this experience may be expressed in textual and non-textual ways. Our bespoke video 'No Brain is the Same' draws teachers' attention to the possibility that not all their students will learn the way they teach.

Understanding of what it means to learn with dyslexia or neurodivergence within the New Zealand tertiary education landscape is limited by a lack of research. While dyslexic students can access tertiary study, many teaching practices limit student access to knowledge and disempower individuals. However, drawing on several small-scale Aotearoa studies (including Gibbons, 2018; Rowan, 2014) and international literature, we challenge teachers and course designers to incorporate opportunities for neurodiverse learners to engage meaningfully with course materials. We give presentations at staff development sessions including regular teaching and learning webinars and the VC's Teaching and Learning Development Day. DA-CoP members have developed resources that are shared with teachers and students alike. We are now continuing to fill the gap in understanding of what teaching strategies support dyslexic student access to textual based knowledge.

Drawing on the diverse skill sets within the DA-CoP (including a visual artist) our current research sets out to examine the intersection between teachers' selection of text-based course materials, their expectations of students' reading and learning approaches, and what students actually do. In our preliminary findings, dyslexic students describe how they make decisions, the strategies they take, and approaches used in selecting and reading course materials for understanding. To build depth and depth in this research we are looking for other teachers, learning support staff or researchers within Aotearoa tertiary education who would like to collaborate in gathering data on the reading strategies of dyslexic tertiary students in Aotearoa. Understanding from this research should help teachers to examine and make informed decisions on their choice of text-based resources which support student learning.





References

Gibbons, R. (2018). Metaphors-of-knowing: Exploring Sense Consciousness Through Art. *Sites: A Journal of Social Anthropology and Cultural Studies*, *15*(1). https://doi.org/10.11157/sites-id338

Rowan, L. M. (2014). University transition experiences of four students with dyslexia in New Zealand. Australian Journal of Learning Difficulties, 19(2), 1129-1136. https://doi.org/10.1080/19404158.2014.923478

Tertiary Education Commission Te Amorangi Mātauranga Māori. (2020). *The Tertiary Education Strategy*. https://www.tec.govt.nz/focus/our-focus/tes/





Disrupting the silence: Hearing the voices of disabled doctoral students [Sanderson]

Lara Sanderson, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, lara.sanderson@otago.ac.nz

Kim Brown, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, kim.brown@otago.ac.nz Rachel Spronken-Smith, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, rachel.spronken-smith@otago.ac.nz

The research and its significance

Many doctoral students living with disabilities, impairments, chronic illness, and neurodiversity can lead invisible lives in the academy. This invisibility can impact significantly on their studies. The fear of stigmatisation and a lack of awareness of their situation from those around them means that these students can occupy spaces that may not be fully supported within a needs-based (dis)abled framework. The aim for this research was to open a space where the voices of disabled doctoral students could be heard. This poster reports on the initial findings of narrative interviews with twelve doctoral students at the University of Otago. Initially, all doctoral students were sent a survey that defined the diversity terms used in this study. The 64 students who participated, therefore, selfidentified as disabled, impaired, chronically ill and/or neurodiverse. We invited students to share their experiences of doctoral study through a series of closed and open questions. From the survey, participants indicated a willingness to be interviewed. To privilege the voices of doctoral students, we use a Poetic Inquiry approach, with analysis to re/present participant voices in thematic poems. Poetic approaches to data analysis and re/presentation challenge dominant ableist cultures within the academy, while having the potential to be a lightening-rod for social change. The poems centre the complexities faced by doctoral students in this study, and articulate the challenges, enabling practices and possibilities for the future encountered by doctoral students living with disabilities, impairments, chronic illness, and/or neurodiversity. We invite viewers to participate with this poster by interacting with verbal recordings of the poems. Spoken poetry seeks to evoke an embodied response and create space for positive change. From our findings, we hope to transform broader doctoral practices and institutional policy, thereby improving students' doctoral experiences.





SESSION ABSTRACTS





Challenges and solutions for integrating employability in traditional course design [Ashton]

Kim Ashton, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, kim.ashton@auckland.ac.nz Deepika Jindal, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, d.jindal@auckland.ac.nz

The research and why this topic is important

Yorke and Knight (2004) define graduate employability as "a set of achievements – skills, understandings and personal attributes – that make graduates more likely to gain employment and be successful in their chosen occupations, which benefits themselves, the workforce, the community and the economy" (p. 3). Traditionally, students have been assessed on 'learning of facts' (James & Casidy, 2018). However, teaching theoretical knowledge and assessing students on that may not lead to the desired employability outcomes (Igwe et al., 2020). Helyer and Lee (2014) argue that repeating words does not necessarily mean that students have acquired the necessary skills. To understand the challenges in employability-based teaching and to facilitate change, we became part of the core committee of Community of Interest - Employability (COI-E) at The University of Auckland. We run monthly interdisciplinary workshops where we provide support, share best practices and resources to maintain motivation for incorporating employability in our teaching. Through the longitudinal primary/secondary data captured from COI-E members, we have found that although prior research has identified teaching modes and work integrated learning to be beneficial for student employability (Ferns & Lilly, 2016; Grotkowska et al., 2015), integrating them in traditional courses remains an ongoing challenge. Key reasons for that are resistance from students, lack of industry networks, time constraints, and problems associated with large classes. This research topic is important because student employability matters to tertiary institutes (Molla & Cuthbert, 2015) and is one of the key reasons for students to enrol for higher studies. Employers are increasingly finding that graduates are not job ready (Jackson, 2015), thus, spend a lot of time to impart them the necessary skills to perform on the job. Hence, it remains a concern for all tertiary institutes (Mathner & Martin, 2012) and has been a well-documented research area (James & Casidy, 2018).

How the session will be run

Using a world café methodology, participants will be asked to explore/share/discuss (Burke & Sheldon, 2010; Estacio & Karic, 2016) the meaning and how to integrate employability into traditional course design. This technique leverages the holistic lived experience of like-minded peers to generate solutions (Wageningen University & Research, n.d.). Participants move around in small groups, with one host that stays anchored on the table, to receive the next group. Each host will facilitate a different question connected to the session topic. The participants spread knowledge like bees and hosts acts as synthesisers of information.

- 0-5: Introducing the topic
- 5-8: Guidelines on world café methodology; creating groups of 3-4 each; finalising hosts and topics through a quick vote
- 8-20: Participants to go to the first table for the first round of discussion; host to capture key points on Google Jam Board/flip chart





- 20-32: Participants to move to the second table for the second round of discussion; host to capture key points on Google Jam Board/flip chart
- 32-43: Hosts to share key points so people can ask questions, identify important take outs, and create action points. The Google Jam Board link/flip chart images to be shared with all participants.
- 43-45: Closing comments

References

- Burke, C., & Sheldon, K. (2010). Encouraging Workplace Innovation Using the 'World Cafe' Model. *Nursing Management UK 17* (7) 14–19. https://10.7748/nm2010.11.17.7.14.c8055
- Estacio, E.V., & Karic, T. (2016). The World Café: An innovative method to facilitate reflections on internationalisation in higher education. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 40(6), 731-745. https://10.1080/0309877X.2015.1014315
- Ferns, S., & Lilly, L. (2015). Driving Institutional Engagement in WIL: Enhancing Graduate Employability. *Journal of Teaching and Learning for Graduate Employability, 6*(1), 116-133. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1235840.pdf
- Grotkowska, G., Wincenciak, L., & Gajderowicz, T. (2015). Ivory-tower or market-oriented enterprise: the role of higher education institutions in shaping graduate employability in the domain of science. *Higher Education Research & Development*, *34*(5), 869-882. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2015.1011090
- Helyer, R., & Lee, D. (2014). The role of work experience in the future employability of higher education graduates. *Higher Education Quarterly*, *68*(3), 348-372. https://doi.org/10.1111/hequ.12055
- Igwe, P. A., Lock, D., & Rugara, D. G. (2020). What factors determine the development of employability skills in Nigerian higher education? *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2020.1850319
- Jackson, D. (2015). Employability skill development in work-integrated learning: Barriers and best practice. *Studies in Higher Education*, 40(2), 350-367. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2013.842221
- James, L. T., & Casidy, R. (2018). Authentic assessment in business education: its effects on student satisfaction and promoting behaviour. *Studies in Higher Education*, *43*(3), 401-415. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2016.1165659
- Mathner, R. P., & Martin, C. L. (2012). Sport management graduate and undergraduate students' perceptions of career expectations in sport management. *Sport Management Education Journal*, 6(1), 21-31. https://doi.org/10.1123/smej.6.1.21
- Molla, T., & Cuthbert, D. (2015). The issue of research graduate employability in Australia: An analysis of the policy framing (1999–2013). *The Australian Educational Researcher*, *42*(2), 237-256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13384-015-0171-6
- Wageningen University & Research (n.d.). *Multi-stakeholder partnerships: Tool 13, World Cafe.* http://www.mspguide.org/sites/default/files/tool/13msp tools world cafe 13.pdf
- Yorke, M., & Knight, P. T. (2004). *Learning & employability: Embedding employability into the curriculum*. York, NY: The Higher Education Academy, Learning and Teaching Support Network.





The embedding of the Sustainable Development Goals in teaching in New Zealand universities: An exploratory study [Bathula]

Hanoku Bathula, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, hanoku.bathula@auckland.ac.nz

Grigorij Ljubownikow, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, g.ljubownikow@auckland.ac.nz

Lisa Callaghar, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, l.callagher@auckland.ac.nz Stefan Korber, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, s.korber@auckland.ac.nz

The research and why this topic is important

The United Nations (2015) launched the 2030 Agenda for sustainable development as a plan of action for people, prosperity, and the planet. The Agenda consists of 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and 169 targets representing a universal agenda. All countries and all stakeholders, acting in collaborative partnership, are urged to implement this plan. Higher education institutions (HEIs) can play a critical role in promoting the SDGs due to their ability to prepare future generations for social challenges (Adomßent et al., 2019; Chankseliani & McCowan, 2021). Graduating students can be equipped with the necessary knowledge and competencies to implement SDGs. Universities are encouraged to be 'champions of sustainable development and play a leading role in the implementation of the SDGs' (Sustainable Development Solutions Network, 2021, p. 2). The United Nations Academic Impact (UNAI), promoting the SDGs globally, identified 17 universities, one for each SDG. Given the importance placed on the 2030 Agenda by higher education institutions, the research question is: To what extent the SDGs are embedded in teaching at New Zealand universities?

While looking at detailed syllabi would have been appropriate, we could not access them at scale, and so we depended on publicly available course outlines. In the learning outcomes of 13,987 course outlines of seven New Zealand universities between 2021 and 2022, we checked for SDG-related keywords; they were drawn from the Sustainable Development Solutions Network (SDSN) inventory of words. Based on the inventory, the authors generated frequency tables to examine the prevalence of SDGs-focused learning outcomes in New Zealand universities. For this study, we followed well established methods of content analysis (Jackson, 1980; Wu et. al, 2010; Krippendorff, 2012) to identify the extend of SDGs focus on teaching and learning.

The findings suggest that only 13% of all course outlines have embedded SDG-related keywords in learning outcomes. Among learning outcomes that mentioned SDG-related keywords, the two most popular SDGs are SDG#3 Good Health & Wellbeing (35.1%) and SDG#4 Quality Education (31.6%). SDG#13 Climate Action (6.18%), SDG#8 Decent Work and Economic Growth (7.8%), SDG#14 Life Below Water (5.1%), and SDG#11 Sustainable Cities & Communities (4.5%) – were in between 10% and 4% of learning outcomes that mentioned SDGs. The remaining SDGs represented only 1% - 2% of learning outcomes that mentioned SDG-related words. Interestingly, SDG#1 Zero Poverty, and SDG#9 Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure did not receive any mention, which is surprising.

The findings imply that while governments and higher education institutions express a deep commitment to promote and contribute to the 2030 Agenda, SDGs are not adequately transmitted into the curriculum. It emphasises the need for universities to purposefully coordinate their efforts to embed SDGs in the course outlines, content, and assessments. We expect this study to evolve into





a larger project from which higher education can benefit. Future studies could include investigation into the syllabi at more granular level across different faculties and achievement levels on SDGs based on a set criterion.

How the session will be run

The purpose of the session is to engage with academic peers in relation to the findings and discuss strategies to embed the SDGs in teaching to contribute to the achievement of the 2030 Agenda. The session will provide a hands-on experience for the participants to design or revise a course outline and embed relevant SDGs. The takeaways can help all participants revise their own teaching and course outlines in the next iteration to reflect the country's commitment to the SDGs.

The session will be conducted as follows (with running time indication):

- 00 05 Brief introduction
- 05 20 Authors will present the research background, their findings and how the research aligns with the governments' commitment to achieve the United Nations 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.
- 20 40 Participants use World café methodology (Terry et al., 2015; Lohr et al., 2020) (or breakout rooms) to discuss findings and design/revise two to three course outlines to include a stronger focus on SDGs and reflect on how this would subsequently translate into their teaching of the courses.
- 40 50 Collaborative discussion and debrief on the feedback
- 50 55 Concluding remarks and close

References

- Adomßent, M., Grahl, A., & Spira, F. (2019). Putting sustainable campuses into force: Empowering students, staff and academics by the self-efficacy Green Office Model. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 20(3), 470-481. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSHE-02-2019-0072
- Chankseliani, M., & McCowan, T. (2021). Higher education and the sustainable development goals. *Higher Education*, 81(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-020-00652-w
- Jackson, G. B. (1980). Methods for integrative reviews. *Review of educational research*, 50(3), 438-460. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543050003438
- Krippendorff, K. (2018). Content analysis: An introduction to its methodology. Sage publications.
- Löhr, K., Weinhardt, M., & Sieber, S. (2020). The "World Café" as a participatory method for collecting qualitative data. *International journal of qualitative methods*, 19, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920916976
- Sustainable Development Solutions Network. (2021). *Getting started with the SDGs in universities*. https://ap-unsdsn.org/wp-content/uploads/University-SDG-Guide web.pdf
- Terry, J., Raithby, M., Cutter, J., & Murphy, F. (2015). A menu for learning: a World Café approach for user involvement and inter-professional learning on mental health. *Social Work Education*, *34*(4), 437-458. https://doi.org/10.1080/02615479.2015.1031651
- United Nations (2015). *Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.* United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs. URL:
 - https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/post2015/transformingourworld/publication
- Wu, Y. C. J., Huang, S., Kuo, L., & Wu, W. H. (2010). Management education for sustainability: A web-based content analysis. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, *9*(3), 520-531. https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.9.3.zqr520





Motivational regulation strategies: An opportunity to improve student wellbeing and academic performance? [Edmonds]

Michael Edmonds, Te Whare Wānanga o Waitaha | University of Canterbury, michael.edmonds@canterbury.ac.nz

Fleur Pawsey, Te Whare Wānanga o Waitaha | University of Canterbury, fleur.pawsey@canterbury.ac.nz

Katharina Naswall, Te Whare Wānanga o Waitaha | University of Canterbury, katharina.naswall@canterbury.ac.nz

Jennifer Hoi Ki Wong, Te Whare Wānanga o Waitaha | University of Canterbury, jennifer.wong@canterbury.ac.nz

The research and why this topic is important

Motivation is a critical factor in learning as it provides the driving force that keeps students engaged in learning. Over the past 25 years researchers have identified eight motivational regulation strategies (MRS) that successful students use to maintain and enhance their motivation while learning (Grunschel et al., 2016; Lohbeck & Moschner, 2021; Schwinger et al., 2009). While these studies have repeatedly shown that students who naturally use these strategies have higher levels of well-being and academic success, little research has been reported describing the effect of actively teaching these strategies to students.

In July and September 2022, two surveys of 800 first year university students were carried out to identify what factors motivate students, what their current use of motivational regulation strategies is, and their levels of wellbeing. Survey findings indicate that as the levels of students' autonomous motivation increases student wellbeing increases, although the effects of material rewards and social motivators were more nuanced. Latent profile analysis (LPA) revealed five distinct student motivation profiles (autonomous, external leaning, moderate balanced, demotivated and amotivated) and three distinct profiles of MRS use (low, medium, and high). Higher levels of wellbeing were associated with autonomous motivational profiles and high MRS use.

Low levels of motivation have been identified as one factor which adversely affects student well-being and academic success, particularly in the first year of tertiary study. The motivational regulation strategies (MRS) described in this presentation (self-reward, proximal goal-setting, mastery self-talk, performance approach self-talk, performance avoidance self-talk, personal significance, situational interest and environmental control) offer a framework which could be used by educational practitioners to support students to take control of their own learning, motivation, wellbeing, and academic success.

How the session will be run

The first part of this workshop (15 minutes) will outline the theory underlying student motivation, motivational regulation strategies (MRS), and the results of the self-talk intervention. A framework based on the eight motivational regulation strategies will also be described.

The second part of the workshop will involve workshop attendees using the eight MRS as a framework to reflect on and a) discuss what aspects of their current practice align with the eight





different strategies, and b) brainstorm what new aspects of practice could be used to utilise the MRS framework.

This will be achieved by dividing attendees into five groups (as several of the MRS are best discussed together). Each group will start at a different table with a large piece of paper listing one (or more) of the MRS. Each group will spend five minutes discussing the motivational regulation strategy(ies) listed on the piece of paper in front of them and listing ideas and reflections, before moving on to the next table. This process will continue over 25 minutes until each group has read and contributed to each piece of paper.

The last 10 minutes will involve group members sharing key ideas from the piece of paper in front of them followed a general discussion. This will be a high paced session keeping people moving from table to table but that will be part of the fun!

References

- Grunschel, C., Schwinger, M., Steinmayr, R., & Fries, S. (2016). Effects of using motivational regulation strategies on students' academic procrastination, academic performance, and well-being. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 49, 162-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2016.06.008
- Lohbeck, A., & Moschner, B. (2021). Motivational regulation strategies, academic self-concept, and cognitive learning strategies of university students: does academic self-concept play an interactive role? *European Journal of Psychology of Education*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10212-021-00583-9
- Schwinger, M., Steinmayr, R., & Spinath, B. (2009). How do motivational regulation strategies affect achievement: Mediated by effort management and moderated by intelligence. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 19(4), 621-627. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2009.08.006





Future modes of delivery in higher education: The evolution of lecture capture [Evans]

Tanya Evans, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, t.evans@auckland.ac.nz Euan Lindsay, formerly from Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland (summer research student), elin779@aucklanduni.ac.nz

The research and why this topic is important

Lecture capture (LC), the process of recording face-to-face lectures for future viewing, has become a standard technology in Western universities in the last decade, yet research has lagged behind its implementation. Despite the rapid, widespread implementation, research regarding LC's impact on pedagogy, student attainment, and learning environment is limited. It is still unclear if there is a causal or a correlated relationship between attainment and usage of LC. To consider some of these questions, we conducted a systematic review that sought to collate and compare the current literature on the efficacy of LC in tertiary mathematics education and provide practical advice for institutions that use or plan to use LC. The literature is consistent in the opinion that students and administrators positively view LC for its utility and flexibility despite the moderately strong evidence that most institutions face attendance drops. However, most students do tend to see attending lectures/watching recordings as an "either-or." The literature predominantly reports a negative association between attainment and the use of LC as a substitute to live lectures. The proportion of students who choose to skip live lectures has steadily increased over the last decade as the student campus culture adjusts to LC. Within this group, LC is used imperfectly, providing false benefits and promoting surface learning strategies. There is evidence that regular use of LC by this large group of students may diminish the quality of their learning.

In the wake of the Covid-19 pandemic, the urgency of obtaining clear answers about the impact of LC is paramount. The recent worldwide shift to online teaching as an emergency response has resulted in an unprecedented use of LC at scale. With the abundance of newly developed video resources, the post-COVID-19 educational landscape is foreshadowed to be vastly different, skipping a natural gradual change.

How the session will be run

The session seeks to engage participants from any discipline in constructive discussions to formulate research-informed, evidence-based recommendations to mitigate LC's unplanned and counterproductive impact and, thus, consider various options for tertiary education delivery in the technologically advanced future.

The session will be structured as follows:

Overview (15 min): the presenter will provide a summary of the research to frame the issues.

Small group discussion (20 min): participants will be asked to work in small groups to share ideas discussed in their departments and to develop futuristic propositions for potential changes.

Whole group discussion (20 min): the presenter will facilitate a whole group discussion inviting each group to share insights developed to identify critical features of the proposed educational models and consider their scalability and possible limitations.





Other outcomes may include concrete ideas for future research projects aiming to evaluate the effects and feasibility of innovations in higher education in New Zealand.

References

- Lindsay, E., & Evans, T. (2021). The use of lecture capture in university mathematics education: a systematic review of the research literature. *Mathematics Education Research Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13394-021-00369-8
- Howard, E., Meehan, M., & Parnell, A. (2018). Live lectures or online videos: students' resource choices in a first-year university mathematics module. *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology*, 49(4), 530-553. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/0020739X.2017.1387943
- Inglis, M., Palipana, A., Trenholm, S., & Ward, J. (2011). Individual differences in students' use of optional learning resources. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 27(6), 490-502. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2729.2011.00417.x
- Meehan, M., & McCallig, J. (2019). Effects on learning of time spent by university students attending lectures and/or watching online videos. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 35(2), 283-293. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12329
- Trenholm, S., Hajek, B., Robinson, C. L., Chinnappan, M., Albrecht, A., & Ashman, H. (2019). Investigating undergraduate mathematics learners' cognitive engagement with recorded lecture videos. *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology*, *50*(1), 3-24. https://doi.org/10.1080/0020739x.2018.1458339





Understanding educational innovators in universities: An intrapreneurial perspective [Fox]

Bridget Fox, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, bridget.fox@auckland.ac.nz Susan Geertshuis, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, s.geertshuis@auckland.ac.nz

The research and why this topic is important

Intrapreneurship, defined as the pursuit by individuals of innovation within an organisation, is linked with organizational success (Antoncic & Hisrich, 2001; Baruah & Ward, 2014). It is a topic of interest to tertiary institutions which despite espousing the rhetoric of discovery and innovation (Hannan & Silver, 2000), have a reputation for being slow to innovate (Twidale & Nichols, 2013).

There is a lack of authoritative research examining intrapreneurship in university teaching and learning (Temple, 2009; Moraes et al., 2020; Wadhwani et al., 2017). The literature has instead focused on institutional-led innovation and the exploitation of research. Little is known about 'educational intrapreneurs' – who they are and how they implement new educational opportunities. Nor do we understand what they learn about universities as sites for innovation in teaching and learning.

To address these gaps two interview studies were conducted, one cross-sectional and one longitudinal. The longitudinal study followed three cases over an entire academic year as intrapreneurs went about developing and implementing novel educational practices. In our study particular attention was devoted to examining participants learning, thinking and experiences in the innovation process.

Our ground up, thematic analysis has led us to develop an agentic-centric model for understanding educational intrapreneurs in universities which builds on current intrapreneurship and behavioural theory. This model has implications for individuals and how universities configure the organizational environment (policies, systems, and processes) to foster intrapreneurial behaviours and stronger innovation cultures.

This is an important contribution. Higher education social systems are characterized as highly value-laden, relatively static and highly institutionalized fields that "seem to be riddled with values, norms, routines and ideas which significantly impact how it is possible to act and think within it" (Degn, 2018, p. 305). This research exposes these tensions through the eyes of intrapreneurs in order to understand the range of political, social and cognitive structures that have to be learnt about and navigated in pursuit of new educational approaches and practices.

How the session will be run

In this interactive session we will ask participants to split into groups and, draw on their own experiences and aspirations. We will share our findings and think of the implications of this research for academic development. We will ask groups to feedback to the wider group.

0-5 Welcome and introduction to the speakers and core concepts in educational intrapreneurship





- 5-15 Exercise Label the educational intrapreneur in small groups participants will be given a model or drawing of an EI and a brief scenario describing a challenging educational innovation context. They will be asked to label their intrapreneur noting their EI's characteristics, likely background, knowledge, attitudes and activities.
- 15-20 Feedback Tour the tables to view the EIs characterised by each group
- 20-30 A short talk describing our method and findings. We will relate our work to the labels generated by participants. Participants will be able to give themselves 'points' for every finding they anticipated and deduct 'points' from the presenters if they dispute the generality of our findings.
- 30-35 Exercise Applying the study to ourselves given the findings what can we do to become (even) more intrapreneurial? In small groups participants generate a list of potential actions.
- 35-40 Feedback and action planning So what will you do? Action points from the room
- 40-45 Close, congratulations to whoever got heaps of 'points' and thanks to participants

References

- Antoncic, B., & Hisrich, R. D. (2001). Intrapreneurship: construct refinement and cross-cultural validation. Journal of Business Venturing, 16(5), 495.
- Baruah, B., & Ward, A. (2014). Metamorphosis of intrapreneurship as an effective organizational strategy. International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal, 11(4), 811–822.
- Berzin, S., Pitt-Catsouphes, M., & Gaitan-Rossi, P. (2016). Innovation and Sustainability: An Exploratory Study of Intrapreneurship Among Human Service Organizations. Human Service Organizations: Management, Leadership & Governance, 0(0), 1–13.
- Degn, L. (2018). Academic sensemaking and behavioural responses exploring how academics perceive and respond to identity threats in times of turmoil. Studies in Higher Education, 43(2), 305–321.
- Dovey, K. (2012). Innovation Within Large Organizations: The Role of the Intrapreneur. ISPIM Conference Proceedings; Manchester, 1–14.
- Felício, J., Rodrigues, R., & Caldeirinha, V. (2012). The effect of intrapreneurship on corporate performance. Management Decision, 50(10), 1717–1738.
- Hannan, A., & Silver, H. (2000). Innovating in Higher Education: Teaching, Learning and Institutional Cultures. Buckingham: Open University Press
- Mars, M. M., & Metcalf, A. S. (2009). The Entrepreneurial Domains of American Higher Education. ASHE Higher Education Report, Volume 34, Number 5. ASHE Higher Education Report, 34(5), 1–111.
- Moraes, Gustavo Hermínio Salati Marcondes de, Bruno Brandão Fischer, Matheus Leite Campos, and Paola Rücker Schaeffer. (2020). "University Ecosystems and the Commitment of Faculty Members to Support Entrepreneurial Activity." BAR Brazilian Administration Review 17, no. 2
- Temple, Paul. (2009). Teaching and learning: an entrepreneurial perspective. In M. Shattock (Ed.), Entrepreneurialism in universities and the knowledge economy: diversification and organizational change in European higher education. 49-62. Maidenhead: Open University Press
- Tierney, W. G., & Lanford, M. (2016). Conceptualizing Innovation in Higher Education. In M. B. Paulsen (Ed.), Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research (pp. 1–40).
- Todorut, A. V. (2010). Premises of the Intrapreneurial Management at the Level of Universities. Annals Economy Series, 3, 195–208.
- Twidale, M. B., & Nichols, D. M. (2013). Agile Methods for Agile Universities. In T. Besley & M. A. Peters (Eds.), Re-imagining the Creative University for the 21st Century (pp. 27–48).
- Valsania, S. E., Moriano, J. A., & Molero, F. (2014). Authentic leadership and intrapreneurial behavior: cross-level analysis of the mediator effect of organizational identification and empowerment. International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal, 12(1), 131–152.
- Wadhwani, R. Daniel, Gabriel Galvez-Behar, Joris Mercelis, and Anna Guagnini. "Academic Entrepreneurship and Institutional Change in Historical Perspective." Management & Organizational History 12, no. 3 (July 3, 2017): 175–98.





Last straw or golden thread: Teaching only academics and the scholarship of teaching and learning (SoTL) [Geertshuis]

Susan Geertshuis, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, s.geertshuis@auckland.ac.nz

Hanoku Bathula, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, hanoku.bathula@auckland.ac.nz

Michelle Kilkolly-Proffit, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, m.kilkolly-proffit@auckland.ac.nz

The research and why this topic is important

Scholarship in teaching and learning is part of institutional rhetoric but appears to be challenging to undertake and have had limited impact (Tight, 2018). Academics report being torn between research and teaching and feeling more pressure to research well than to teach well (Tsang, 2010). Some universities have turned to employing teaching only staff who will escape such a conflict (Bennett et al., 2018). These staff, experts in their disciplines and in teaching, are charged with scholarly teaching but often not afforded time for research.

This research explores the attitudes of teaching only academic staff to their role in scholarly teaching. In particular we investigated attitudes to the scholarship of teaching and learning. The aim was to better understand the perceptions and challenges staff experience. To avoid definitional confusions and divergence we adopted the notion of a SoTL continuum and sought to understand where our participants positioned themselves on the spectrum (Canning & Masika, 2022).

An online and confidential survey was distributed within a Business Faculty employing approximately 50 teaching only academics. Twenty-four staff members, approximately 50%, responded providing both ratings and qualitative data in response to open ended questions. The results showed marked differences between the aspirations participants had for participation in SoTL and their self-reported performance. Lack of time and a lack of institutional support appeared to account for much of the shortfall in self-reported performance.

If SoTL is as important as institutional rhetoric and educationalists suggest then ways of enabling teaching academics to engage with SoTL need to be discovered (Webb, 2019). This presentation will explore tactics contextualised for the NZ university sector.

How the session will be run

We plan an interactive workshop where participants work together to develop their thinking, share their practices, and devise institution-wide strategies.

- 0-5 Welcome and introduction
- 5-10 Place your bets a game for participants to 'bet' on the survey findings before we hear about them.
- 10-15 The survey findings.
- 15-20 Black hat thinking brief exercise to identify problems as participants answer the question 'why will nothing ever change?'





- 20-35 The Wowzer grant for supporting SoTL a pretend call for masses of funding an exercise in rethinking support for staff engaging with SoTL.
- 35-40 Review of 'grant proposals' and a strategic decision.
- 40-45 Last thoughts and thanks

References

- Bennett, D., Roberts, L., Ananthram, S., & Broughton, M. (2018). What is required to develop career pathways for teaching academics? *Higher Education*, 75(2), 271–286. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-017-0138-9
- Canning, J., & Masika, R. (2022). The scholarship of teaching and learning (SoTL): The thorn in the flesh of educational research. *Studies in Higher Education*, *47*(6), 1084–1096. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2020.1836485
- Tight, M. (2018). Tracking the scholarship of teaching and learning. *Policy Reviews in Higher Education*, *2*(1), 61–78. https://doi.org/10.1080/23322969.2017.1390690
- tsang, A. (2010). Pitfalls to Avoid in Establishing A SoTL Academic Pathway: An Early Career Perspective. International Journal for the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning, 4(2). https://doi.org/10.20429/ijsotl.2010.040219
- Webb, A. S. (2019). Navigating the Lows to Gain New Heights: Constraints to SoTL Engagement. *The Canadian Journal for the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, 10(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.5206/cjsotl-rcacea.2019.2.8173





Work, study, sleep, repeat: The wellbeing of students who work while they study [Geertshuis]

Susan Geertshuis, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, s.geertshuis@auckland.ac.nz

Qian Liu, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, qian.liu@otago.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Taught postgraduate degrees are proliferating (Blagg, 2018). They offer intense periods of study (Bamber et al., 2019) to students who often have established careers and families of their own (Rotem et al., 2021). These students enter a tertiary system that may be more suited to traditional undergraduates who study full-time and have fewer work and family responsibilities (Coneyworth et al., 2020; Macleod et al., 2019).

Student wellbeing is associated with academic performance (El Ansari & Stock, 2010), success (Bowden et al., 2021) and learning (Geertshuis, 2019). However, the wellbeing of mature students who combine work and study is under researched although they are of increasing importance to universities and experience a suite of responsibilities which younger students may not share.

The focus is on mature learners who are in full-time employment and study as part-time students. Our over-arching aim is to identify ways to enhance these students' experience of university education. The objective of this study is to assess positive and negative wellbeing in activated and deactivated forms (Warr et al., 2014) and identify the stress related precursors to and the consequences of variations in wellbeing.

We conducted an online survey (N=305) using validated instruments to assess self-reported well-being, stress and orientation to lifelong learning. Additionally, participants provided ratings and qualitative comments to open ended questions about the impact of combining work and study on their working, studying and personal lives.

Regression analyses revealed associations between stress, wellbeing and learning. Analysis of stress profiles and thematic analysis of students' responses to open ended questions provide insight into the nature of the impact and the nature of students' stress related experiences.

The study has practical implications for the design of programmes and support regimes targeting mature students who are in full-time employment. The study also has implications for our understanding of the positive aspects of wellbeing.

How the session will be run

- 0-5 Welcome
- 5-10 Ice breaker Thinking about mature students combining full-time work with study.
- 10-15 Presentation of Warr's model of well-being
- 20-25 Our survey findings
- 25-30 The content analysis of comments





30-40 Whole group discussion – the practical implications of the study – easy wins that might transform postgrads lives.

40-45 Thanks and close

- Bamber, V., Choudhary, C. J., Hislop, J., & Lane, J. (2019). Postgraduate taught students and preparedness for Master's level study: Polishing the facets of the Master's diamond. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 43(2), 236–250. https://doi.org/10.1080/0309877X.2017.1359502
- Blagg, K. (2018). The Rise of Master's Degrees: Master's Programs Are Increasingly Diverse and Online. In *Urban Institute*. Urban Institute. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED592626
- Bowden, J. L.-H., Tickle, L., & Naumann, K. (2021). The four pillars of tertiary student engagement and success: A holistic measurement approach. *Studies in Higher Education*, *46*(6), 1207–1224. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2019.1672647
- Coneyworth, L., Jessop, R., Maden, P., & White, G. (2020). The overlooked cohort? Improving the taught postgraduate student experience in higher education. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, 57(3), 262–273. https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2019.1617184
- El Ansari, W., & Stock, C. (2010). Is the Health and Wellbeing of University Students Associated with their Academic Performance? Cross Sectional Findings from the United Kingdom. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 7(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph7020509
- Geertshuis, S. A. (2019). Slaves to our emotions: Examining the predictive relationship between emotional well-being and academic outcomes. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, *20*(2), 153–166.
- Macleod, G., Barnes, T., & Huttly, S. R. (2019). Teaching at Master's level: Between a rock and a hard place. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 24(4), 493–509.
- Rotem, N., Yair, G., & Shustak, E. (2021). Dropping out of master's degrees: Objective predictors and subjective reasons. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 40(5), 1070–1084. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2020.1799951
- Warr, P., Bindl, U. K., Parker, S. K., & Inceoglu, I. (2014). Four-quadrant investigation of job-related affects and behaviours. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, *23*(3), 342–363. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2012.744449





Walk a mile in my shoes: Postgraduate researchers' experiences [Geertshuis]

Susan Geertshuis, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, s.geertshuis@auckland.ac.nz

Wuwei Gong, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, wgon791@aucklanduni.ac.nz Bridget Fox, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, bridget.fox@auckland.ac.nz Wender Martins, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, w.martins@auckland.ac.nz

Herbert Sima, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, h.sima@auckland.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Our body of university student researchers is diverse, including: part-time and full-time students; mid-career professionals and young graduates; and well-resourced students and students who struggle financially or emotionally. For all individuals becoming a doctoral researcher involves transition and the development of identity but the nature of the transition and change is likely to vary (Watts, 2009). An under researched group of doctoral students are themselves university employees who must navigate the prospect of simultaneously being both student and professional. They are also likely to be older than many PhD students and to be studying part-time while juggling work and home obligations.

This preliminary research aims to better understand the experiences and learning of doctoral research students who are studying part-time while working at a university.

We conducted autobiographical narrative interviews with 4 participants who had recently or were about to complete their doctoral studies. Each participant engaged reflexively with their own doctoral experiences. Preliminary results alert us to the identity challenges, the emotional nature of novice researchers' learning and to their feelings of uncertainty and accomplishment. The session will be enriched by the reflections of some of the presenters who were also participants in the study. As mid-career university employees they are able to reflect on both organisational and student perspectives.

We draw on holistic conceptions of professional identity (Arvaja, 2018), student engagement (Bowden et al., 2021), emotional learning (Hökkä et al., 2020) and demands-resource models (Bakker & de Vries, 2021) to explore our findings.

This study has the potential to build understanding of and enhance research students' experience.

How the session will be run

- 0-5 Welcome and introductions
- 5-12 Icebreaker and Reflection exercise we will take the audience back to when they were a novice researcher and ask them to think of a positive and a negative word that captures their experiences. Participants will briefly share their words.





- 12-20 Presentation of our research findings and shared reflections. We will begin with quotes from our interviews and progress into accounts of the speakers' autobiographical experiences and miscommunications.
- 20-30 Exercise in the application of theory We will briefly share pertinent aspects of theory and as a group consider their relevance and value to shared scenarios.
- 30-40 Whole class discussion on how best to design a larger scale study.
- 40-45 Thanks and close.

- Arvaja, M. (2018). Tensions and striving for coherence in an academic's professional identity work. Teaching in Higher Education, 23(3), 291–306.
- Bakker, A. B., & de Vries, J. D. (2021). Job Demands—Resources theory and self-regulation: New explanations and remedies for job burnout. Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 34(1), 1–21.
- Barnes, B. J., & Austin, A. E. (2009). The Role of Doctoral Advisors: A Look at Advising from the Advisor's Perspective. Innovative Higher Education, 33(5), 297–315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10755-008-9084-x
- Bowden, J. L.-H., Tickle, L., & Naumann, K. (2021). The four pillars of tertiary student engagement and success: A holistic measurement approach. Studies in Higher Education, 46(6), 1207–1224. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2019.1672647
- Hökkä, P., Vähäsantanen, K., & Paloniemi, S. (2020). Emotions in Learning at Work: A Literature Review. Vocations and Learning, 13(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12186-019-09226-z
- Watts, J. H. (2009). From professional to PhD student: Challenges of status transition. Teaching in Higher Education, 14(6), 687–691. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562510903315357





Do you enjoy stress? Learning away from the campus as an offshore international student [Gong]

Wuwei Gong, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, wgon791@aucklanduni.ac.nz Susan Geertshuis, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, s.geertshuis@auckland.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Many international students studied online and offshore during the COIVID-19 pandemic (Lai et al., 2020). However, few studies focus on these students although their experiences are likely to be affected by remote learning and the sense of isolation (Wilczewski et al., 2021). This research delves into the stress experiences of offshore Chinese students who enrolled in a New Zealand university.

The research investigated the perception of stressors, specific responses, and stress management strategies pertaining to distress (negative, harmful results of stress) and eustress (positive, beneficial results of stress). Based on a two-stage data collection, empirical data were obtained from semi-structured, in-depth interviews with 17 Chinese offshore international students enrolled in a variety of higher institutions. Audio recordings of these interviews were translated, transcribed, and thematically analysed.

We identified two perceptions of stressors related to distress: "rejection" and "constraint" and two perceptions of stressors relevant to eustress: "caring" and "challenge". Additionally, this research found participants responded to stressors perceived as "rejection" and "constraint" with responses characterised by "withdrawal" and "surface learning", respectively, while responding to stressors perceived as "caring" and "challenge" with responses of "involvement" and "exploration", respectively. Lastly, five stress management strategies were identified, four for distress reduction and one for eustress maintenance.

Findings highlight the necessity of exploring both eustress and distress instead of constructing stress as an unequivocal threat (Gibbons et al., 2007). Additionally, we identified previously unrecognised stressors, stress responses, and stress management strategies. These findings were utilised to form a conceptual model presenting offshore international students' stress process, paving the way for future qualitative and quantitative studies designed to analyse students' distress and eustress. The study is important and timely offering an insight into a strategically important and potentially growing group of students who remain in their own countries but reach into New Zealand to access tertiary education. The practical implications of our findings will be discussed during our session.

How the session will be run

We plan an interactive session where the audience places themselves in the role of Chinese offshore international students. They then anticipate the stressors experienced and relevant impacts before hearing about our findings. We close the session with a whole group discussion where we canvass for ideas for improving offshore learners' experiences. The proposed outline of our session is displayed below:

0-5: Welcome





- 5-10: Wuwei/Susan introduce the idea of stressors, eustress, and distress, then briefly describe the study participants.
- 10-15: Individuals brainstorm stressors write down as many stressors as they can in 4 minutes; prize for whoever gets the most.
- 15-20: In small groups sort stressors by eustress and distress or any other kinds of classification and guess the most impactful ones. Groups share ideas and shout out the most important stressors.
- 20-25: Wuwei/Susan share some quotes and some findings from their study.
- 25-40: Whole class discussion on what should or could be done by different stakeholders (e.g., departments, teachers, students) to improve the stress management of offshore international students.
- 40-45: Thanks, close, final words.

- Gibbons, C., Dempster, M., & Moutray, M. (2008). Stress and eustress in nursing students. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *61*(3), 282-290. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04497.x
- Lai, A. Y. K., Lee, L., Wang, M. P., Feng, Y., Lai, T. T. K., Ho, L. M., Lam, V. S. F., Ip, M. S. M., & Lam, T. H. (2020). Mental health impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on international university students, related stressors, and coping strategies. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *11*, Article 584240. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.584240
- Wilczewski, M., Gorbaniuk, O., & Giuri, P. (2021). The psychological and academic effects of studying from the home and host country during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, Article 644096. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.644096





Students as scholars and the scholarship of student learning [Harland]

Tony Harland, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, tony.harland@otago.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

In this workshop the idea of the scholarship of student learning (SSL) (Harland, 2020; Wald and Harland, 2021) is explored as a values discourse that promotes certain epistemological and ontological attributes in students, including care and generosity, and being engaged members of their university and society. The idea of the student being taught as a scholar partially opposes the dominant neoliberal framing of higher education but is not foreign to normal academic practices and so may have a chance to succeed. At present the terms 'scholar' and 'scholarship' are empty signifiers that are poorly understood and overused. I will first define these terms in the context of SSL (Knowledge Production, Knowledge Guardianship, Care, and Generosity) (Harland, 2020, Harland and Wald, 2018) and show how this research has developed conceptually and been applied in the Ecology degree programme at the University of Otago. We will then look at the four scholarships of student learning and discuss each in turn to develop a conversation around how these might be understood in various disciplinary contexts.

How the session will be run

Introductory comments (10 minutes): Here the concept of SSL will be explained.

The four scholarships discussion (30 minutes): Each of the four scholarships of student learning will be discussed in the context of theory and practice in a range of disciplines.

Final discussion: What other scholarships might be included and what will these achieve (15 minutes).

References

Harland, T. (2020). University challenge. Critical issues for teaching and learning. London Routledge. Harland, T., & Wald, N. (2018). Curriculum, teaching and powerful knowledge. Higher Education. 76(4), 615-628.

Wald, N. and Harland, T. (2021) Students as scholars and the scholarship of student learning. Teaching in Higher Education.





Supporting online communication: Comparing Discord to other software tools [Heinrich]

Eva Heinrich, Te Kunenga Ki Pürehuroa | Massey University, e.heinrich@massey.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Online communication among students and between students and staff has been an important feature of learning and teaching for many years. While well established, questions about the effectiveness of forums remain (Lima et al. 2019). The use of tools from social media and chat contexts has been explored (Manca, 2020).

I am involved in research on using Discord (https://discord.com) to complement the LMS forums (Heinrich et al., 2022; Kahu et al., 2022). Discord is a chat system that provides groups with dedicated online environments (servers) featuring a variety of communication channels. Anyone can setup their own servers and invite others to join. Discord is available at no cost, is adds-free and does not have social media features such as recommendation algorithms. Our research has shown that Discord opens new communication spaces, tailored to individual courses but also available for connecting discipline communities of alumni, staff, and students across year levels. Discord facilitates an informal atmosphere that lowers the barriers to participation for many students.

Many research questions remain – what makes Discord informal, what is required to nurture a Discord community, how can a tool residing outside institutional boundaries be part of formal course offerings, what characteristics make Discord successful, is Discord suited for all discipline areas, and what would be suitable alternatives?

The Covid disruptions experienced over the last years have put even higher importance on online communications, making it abundantly clear that 'online' affects all teaching in higher education. We would like to see more exchanges among our learners, more meaningful questions, and less fear and hesitation to post. We know that the tools within our LMS are not the answer and in general feel uncomfortable with drawing on social media in support of teaching. While there are pockets of success, we do not have solutions that help us create and sustain wider discipline communities that will not only support learning but also the development of professional identities.

How the session will be run

I will highlight some of the issues discussed in the session, aiming to enable others to explore the addition of a chat tool like Discord to their courses and to gain new insights for future research steps. The following session components are planned:

Introduction and overview of previous research (10 mins).

Online chat using Discord (participants use their smartphones, tablets or laptops; 20 mins).

Invite link: https://discord.gg/PyeHEPfAh8

Discussion focused on the following topics (20 mins, split across topics based on flow of discussion):

Your experience using Discord (ease of use, features, user identities)

Comparison to LMS forums (appearance, user rights, style of conversations)





Comparison to social media tools (instructor presence, separation of private and study lives, no recommendation algorithms or ads)

Institutional perspective (letting go of total control, continuity beyond semesters and enrolment)

Wrap up (5 mins)

Invitation for joint research around Discord (and comparable tools such as Rocket.Chat and Matrix).

- Heinrich, E., Thomas, H. & Kahu, E.R. (2022). An exploration of course and cohort communication spaces in Discord, Teams and Moodle. Australasian Journal of Educational Technologies 38(6).
- Kahu, E.R., Thomas, H., & Heinrich, E. (2022). "A sense of community and camaraderie": Increasing student engagement by supplementing an LMS with a Learning Commons Communication Tool. Active Learning in Higher Education (Online first). https://doi.org/10.1177/14697874221127691
- Lima, D.P.R. de, Gerosa, M.A., Conte, T.U. & Netto, J.F. de M. (2019). What to expect, and how to improve online discussion forums: The instructors' perspective. Journal of Internet Services and Applications, 10(22). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13174-019-0120-0
- Manca, S. (2020). Snapping, pinning, liking or texting: Investigating social media in higher education beyond Facebook. The Internet and Higher Education, 44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2019.100707





The writing retreat: Structured portions to a 'writing menu' of options [Heyligers]

Josta Heyligers Te Wānanga Aronui o Tāmaki Makau Rau | Auckland University of Technology, josta.heyligers@aut.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Since the early 2000s, research on writing retreats has been published in journals of academic writing and higher education. In New Zealand my former colleague, Barbara Grant, started to share her work (e.g., Grant, 2006) in this area and other publications soon followed. Apart from research articles, guidelines of how to conduct writing retreats also appeared on internet to freely download. The effectiveness of structured programmes has been mentioned but often the data generated is limited to a small number of interviews, observations, or participant feedback. As more information has accumulated over the years, a scoping review of the literature is a desired method to summarise and appraise the value of the different writing retreats and answer whether structured programmes have longer term impacts than unstructured retreats. This research was prompted by my recent involvement in co-facilitating a writing retreat for researchers as well as having been a participant in retreats for academic staff. In my initial scoping of the literature, I noticed authors favoured some structure, leading to the design of structured activities for the 2021 writing retreat for beginning researchers at the Auckland University of Technology. The research is to be continued to scope a broad collection of published literature to arrive at an informed assessment of what makes a writing retreat successful.

Writing retreats have become popular events to encourage research students and academic staff to write and submit theses or publish research timely. Studies indicate that giving researchers time away from family and work commitments increases productivity, sense of community and confidence as writers. However, there is debate whether these interventions should be structured. On the one hand, giving time and a quiet place to write is argued to be all that is needed, and facilitators work seemingly unnoticed at the background. Others, however, argue that structured programmes where quiet writing time is interspersed with guided activities such as peer reviews have a longer impact as writing habits are formed and a community of practice established. These new habits and connections may continue outside of the time spent at the retreat. As writing retreats are often costly, those offering a financial, social and/or academic 'return' are favoured and remain funded.

How the session will be run

In the first 10 minutes of the session, I will present a brief review on structured writing retreats and introduce the new activities added to the 2021 writing retreat programme. I then briefly explain the rationale and design ideas behind their creation: to encourage a community of practice. Participants will be able to share their experience of 'structured' and non-structured' writing retreats either as a participant or facilitator (10 mins). Next, time is given to design in small groups an 'ideal' writing retreat programme using activity cards as prompts and blank cards for brainstorming novel activities (20 mins). An empty schedule for a 3-night retreat at a location of choice is provided to each group. The remainder of the time (15 mins) is spent on presenting and discussing the new schedules created. After the conference, participants will be sent a copy of the proposed writing retreats and a summary of the discussion.





Reference

Murray, R., & Newton, M. (2009). Writing retreat as structured intervention: Margin or mainstream? Higher Education Research & Development, 28(5), 541-553. DOI: 10.1080/07294360903154126





Zooming marvellous: Creating effective active learning experiences within synchronous online-teaching platforms at university [Junpath]

Shireen Junpath, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, s.junpath@auckland.ac.nz Martin Walsh, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, martin.walsh@auckland.ac.nz

Anson Li, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, akt.li@auckland.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Active learning has been described as referring to "short course-related individual or small-group activities that all students in a class are called upon to do, alternating with instructor-led intervals in which student responses are processed and new information is presented" (Felder & Brent, 2009, p. 2). Different forms of active learning, particularly collaborative forms, have been associated with a number of benefits (Prince, 2013), including better recall of information (Ruhl et al., 1987), better conceptual understanding (Laws et al., 1999), deep learning (Murray-Johnson et al., 2021) and increased levels of student retention (Lau, 2003). With the onset of Covid-19, one challenge for teachers has been to keep running effective active learning sessions remotely. The most common approach for this is live online synchronous sessions using Zoom (Iqbal, 2021).

This research involved a literature review to capture active learning techniques that can be utilised in online synchronous settings (Brown et al., 2022; Castelli & Sarvary, 2021; Cavinato et al., 2021; Khan et al., 2017; Khan et al., 2022; Martin & Borup, 2022; Murray-Johnson et al., 2021). From the literature, it is clear that for these active learning techniques to be effective, student engagement is critical. This can be achieved by considering several factors like teaching presence (e.g., facilitation, instructions, chat box), social presence (e.g., Piazza) and cognitive presence (e.g., technological tools) (Khan et al., 2022). The techniques from the literature were trialled informally during the past semesters, and in our session, we will share the findings from both our literature review and our experiences as we tested out the techniques. Participants will also have the opportunity to share their own learnings.

How the session will be run

- 1. Welcome -Present a brief background of who we are, our roles at the university, and our experiences in online active learning. (5 min)
- 2. Contextualisation of Issue (6 min): A brief overview of the rationale for active learning and the role of active learning in higher education will be outlined. Then, issues related to conducting active learning activities via Zoom mentioned in recent literature and from personal experience will be introduced.
- 3. Groupwork I (12 min)

Participants work in small groups to discuss if they have experienced these problems and which ones, they have found most challenging. The problems will be listed on a shared document. Participants will also be invited to add other problems to the list.





- 4. Strategies from the literature for dealing with these challenges which we have used and found useful will be presented (using screenshots etc.) (10min)
- 5. Groupwork II (12 min)

Participants will be asked to share experiences they have had using the strategies presented. They will also be invited to add other strategies/tools they have found successful to the shared document.

- 6. One or two groups will be asked to expand on any interesting strategies they have added to the shared document. (10 min)
- 7. Close

- Adedoyin, O. B., & Soykan, E. (2020). Covid-19 pandemic and online learning: the challenges and opportunities. Interactive Learning Environments, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2020.1813180
- Brown, A., Lawrence, J., Basson, M. & Redmond, P. (2022) A conceptual framework to enhance student online learning and engagement in higher education, *Higher Education Research & Development 41*(2), 284-299 https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2020.1860912
- Castelli, F. R., & Sarvary, M. A. (2021). Why students do not turn on their video cameras during online classes and an equitable and inclusive plan to encourage them to do so. *Ecology and Evolution*, *11*(8), 3565-3576. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.7123
- Cavinato, A. G., Hunter, R. A., Ott, L. S., & Robinson, J. K. (2021). Promoting student interaction, engagement, and success in an online environment. *Anal Bioanal Chem, 413*, 1513–1520. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-021-03178-x
- European University Association. (2019). Promoting active learning in universities: *Thematic peer group report*. https://www.eua.eu/downloads/publications/eua%20tpg%20report%205-%20promoting%20active%20learning%20in%20universities.pdf
- Felder, R. M., & Brent, R. (2009). Active learning: An introduction. *ASQ Higher Education Brief, 2*(4), 1-5. http://asq.org/edu/2009/08/best-practices/active-learning-an-introduction.%20felder.html?shl=093530
- Iqbal, M. (2021, September 21). Zoom revenue and usage statistics (2021). Business of Apps. https://www.businessofapps.com/data/zoom-statistics/
- Khan, A., Egbue, O., Palkie, B. & Madden, J. (2017). Active Learning: Engaging students to maximize learning in an online course. *The Electronic Journal of e-Learning* 15(2), 107-115.
- Khan, R., Atta, K., Sajjad, M. & Jawaid, M. (2022). Twelve tips to enhance student engagement in synchronous online teaching and learning. *Medical Teacher*, *44*(6), 601-606. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2021.1912310
- Lau, L. K. (2003). Institutional factors affecting student retention. Education, 124(1), 126.
- Laws, P., Sokoloff, D., & Thornton, R. (1999). Promoting active learning using the results of physics education research. UniServe Science News, 13, 14-19.
- Martin, F., & Borup, J. (2022) Online learner engagement: Conceptualdefinitions, research themes, and supportive practices. *Educational Psychologist*, *57*(3), 162-177. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2022.2089147
- Murray-Johnson, K., Munro, A., & Popoola, R. (2021). Immersive deep learning activities online. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education*, 2021,169, 35-49. https://doi.org/10.1002/ace.20412
- Prince, M. (2013). Does active learning work? A review of the research. *Journal of engineering education,* 93(3), 223-231. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2168-9830.2004.tb00809.x
- Ruhl, K. L., Hughes, C. A., & Schloss, P. J. (1987). Using the pause procedure to enhance lecture recall. *Teacher education and special education*, 10(1), 14-18. https://doi.org/10.1177/088840648701000103
- Yusuf, B. N., & Jihan, A. (2020). Are we prepared enough? A case study of challenges in online learning in a private higher learning institution during the Covid-19 outbreaks. *Advances in Social Sciences Research Journal*, 7(5), 205-212. https://doi.org/10.14738/assrj.75.8211





Creating robust interactive academic transition support for development of academic integrity and academic skills in students with interrupted learning caused by Covid-19 in first year business education [Kilkolly-Proffit]

Michelle Kilkolly-Proffit, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, m.kilkolly-proffit@auckland.ac.nz

Kim Ashton, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, kim.ashton@auckland.ac.nz Shireen Junpath, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, s.junpath@auckland.ac.nz Sue Gough, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, s.gough@auckland.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Research shows a need for first-year students to acquire the academic skills and mind-set to study successfully at university (Briggs et al., 2012; Richards, 2022). Academic transition, including academic skills development, is the bridge to which students successfully traverse their first written academic assignments at university. In the Stage I BUSINESS 111 course, students complete research essay-based written assignments requiring them to develop academic skills. This research contribution outlines an innovative mechanism for supporting students to do this.

Recent results from Delna assessment reveal that almost 30% of new entrant students have gaps in their academic English language proficiency. The need for academic transition support and academic skills scaffolding and development was further highlighted when it became apparent that the 2022 starting cohort had faced two years of prolonged significant interruption and variant remote high school remote teaching experiences because of the Covid-19 pandemic and resultant lockdowns (Pownall et al., 2021). To address this gap, Academic Skills Modules were created and embedded in the Workshop Preparation component of the course and integrated into the course assessment structure so that students would be encouraged (and ideally inspired) to complete development tasks. The five-module package sits alongside the disciplinary content and is completed concurrently in the first five weeks of the course. The modules are directly aligned with the BUSINESS 111 course assessment structure. All five modules use H5P technology to embed interactive self-testing mechanisms such as application exercises, MCQs, and activities.

Increasing of academic literacy and capabilities was the primary objective, but an important secondary objective was a reduction in academic integrity cases. A significant reduction of in such cases resulted (a reduction of 66%) after the embedding of these modules. In addition to this, student performance between two essay assessments saw an on average, 10% increase in performance.

This topic is important as it helps practitioners consider new pathways to deliver highly engaging and effective academic transition to support the development of academic integrity and academic skills such as research, writing, referencing to hybrid and/or pivoting cohorts. This contribution is positioned as an introduction to a programme of research that seeks to connect and partner to create strong first year experience where students feel inclusion and belongingness, grow confidence and learner agency, while developing needed KSAs that will serve them well in the increasingly fast changing world they navigate.





How the session will be run

This session invites participants to consider how courses can bolster academic transition to better support students' needs arising from interrupted education during Covid-19.

- 00-05 Brief Introductions and background
- 05-15 Icebreaker: small group challenge to acknowledge and enable holistic lived experience of participants who pivoted to online teaching at short notice. Identify top challenges faced in teaching and learning with the Covid-19 affected starters. Completed either with butchers' paper/pens or Google Jamboards (Sweeny, et. al. 2021).
- 15-20 Introduce objectives, findings, and work progress of the academic transition intervention outlined in this brief. It provides a quick tour of the innovation.
- 20-30 Participants use word café methodology (Burke & Sheldon, 2010; Estacio & Karic, 2016; Wageningen University & Research, n.d.) to discuss findings to increase academic transition, pastoral care, engagement, and success indicators and how they might embed such learning in their own courses.
- 30-40 Collaborative discussion and debrief on above
- 40-45 Wrap up and close

- Briggs, A.R.J., Clark, J., & Hall, I. (2012). Building bridges: Understanding student transition to university. Quality in Higher Education, 18(1), 3-21. https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254X.2016.1182577
- Burke, C., & Sheldon, K. (2010). Encouraging Workplace Innovation Using the 'World Cafe' Model. *Nursing Management UK 17* (7) 14–19. https://10.7748/nm2010.11.17.7.14.c8055
- Estacio, E.V., & Karic, T. (2016). The World Café: An innovative method to facilitate reflections on internationalisation in higher education. *Journal of Further and Higher Education, 40*(6), 731-745. https://10.1080/0309877X.2015.1014315
- Pownall, M., Harris, R., & Blundell-Birtill, P. (2021). Supporting students during the transition to university in COVID-19: Five key considerations and recommendations for educators 2021. *Psychology Learning & Teaching*, *21*(1). 3-18. https://doi.org/10.1177/14757257211032486
- Richards, B.N. (2022). Help-seeking behaviors as cultural capital: Cultural guides and the transition from high school to college among low-income first-generation students. *Social Problems, 69*(1), 241-260. https://doi.org/10.1093/socpro/spaa023
- Sweeney, E. M., Beger, A. W., & Reid, L. (2021). Google Jamboard for virtual anatomy education. *The Clinical Teacher*. https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.13389
- Wageningen University & Research (n.d.). Multi-stakeholder partnerships: Tool 13, World Cafe. http://www.mspguide.org/sites/default/files/tool/13msp_tools_world_cafe_13.pdf





Can video production projects teach students anything: A scoping review of health professions education literature [Liu]

Qian Liu, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, qian.liu@otago.ac.nz Susan Geertshuis, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, s.geertshuis@auckland.ac.nz

Tehmina Gladman, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, tehmina.gladman@otago.ac.nz

Rebecca Grainger, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, rebecca.grainger@otago.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Videos are important learning resources. Teachers provide them to students to explain knowledge or theories, demonstrate performance or skills, and facilitate attitudinal or emotional responses. Recent developments in digital devices, social media and online video sharing platforms have made video production accessible to the general public, thus making it possible for students to produce videos as a learning activity. Within this approach, students create videos relevant to their learning rather than watching videos that are made by others. Such a pedagogical approach to videos is appealing: video production is active and often involves collaborative exercises, and therefore, is assumed to increase student engagement and enhance learning. There has been an increase in the uptake of student video production projects in higher education, however, these projects are implemented in different ways and little is known about the efficacy of video production projects and whether they enable or inhibit learning.

In an attempt to establish current understanding of the purposes, approaches, consequences and challenges in relation to video production projects, we conducted a scoping review (n=36) on the use of student video production projects in health professions education.

The review showed variations in project purposes and implementation approaches and varying degrees of success in developing disciplinary-specific and generic skills. The review suggests that successful implementation of video production projects is likely dependent on clear pedagogical intent and aligned guidance before, during and after video production. Otherwise, video production projects might not necessarily promote student engagement and learning. In addition, the review establishes that relevance to learning, timing, planning, technological and collaboration difficulties are common challenges associated with video production. Drawing on these findings, we identify directions for future research, and practical strategies to help teachers implement technology-mediated innovative projects that are intended to enhance student engagement and learning.

How the session will be run

Participants will identify research-informed strategies to support the implementation of technology-mediated innovative learning projects. The session plan is provided below (Table 1).

We begin the session with a review rationale (Activity 1), followed by presentation of project purposes and varying level of success (Activity 2). Participants then work in groups to develop an ideal project plan in a given teaching scenario (Activity 3). Next, we report the approaches to and challenges in project implementation (Activity 4). This is followed by a group activity to revise project





plans drawing on the review findings (Activity 5). Finally, groups share their projects and provide feedback to other projects in the session (Activity 6 and 7).

Table 1. Session Plan

Time (mins)	Activities	Notes
00-05	Welcome, Overview of the review process	Presentation
06-10	Video production – purpose and outcome	Presentation
11-15	Design your own project – what do you hope to achieve	Individual exercise and group discussion
16-25	Video production – approaches and challenges	Presentation
26-35	Improve your own project – what can you do to achieve the intended learning	Individual exercise and group discussion
36-40	What is your takeaway message?	Whole class discussion
41-45	Questions and answers	Further discussion





Undertaking Appreciative Inquiry into academic practices developed and used in a Covid-19 world [Lythberg]

Billie Lythberg, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, b.lythberg@auckland.ac.nz Kim Ashton, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, kim.ashton@auckland.ac.nz Hanoku Bathula, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland, hanoku.bathula@auckland.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Working from home during COVID-19 brought unprecedented challenges to the work–life balance of academics in the higher education sector (Gourlay et al., 2021; Morrison et al., 2022). On-campus course offerings pivoted to mixed-method online course providers overnight (Basilaia et al., 2020; Sweeny et al., 2021), requiring new teaching and learning practices, redeveloped and often unproven ad-hoc curriculum, workspace and devices at home (Gourlay et al., 2021; Pownall et al., 2021). Boundaries between home and work life flexed to accommodate teaching alongside, for example, childcare and homeschooling (Gourlay et al., 2021), while academics led students via proactive relationship building (Stephens, 2021).

How professionals address work—non-work boundaries has interested many scholars (e.g., Gourlay et al., 2021; Edgeworth et al., 2020; Trefalt, 2013). Increased blurring of boundaries significantly impacts wellbeing (Carr et al., 2022; Wepfer et al., 2017). While 'quiet quitting' describes stepping back from extra work that permeated boundaries during the COVID-19 pandemic period (Smith, 2022), other ways of 'moving on' interest us more. How can we reflect upon COVID-19's hard-won lessons and adapt these, even as boundaries are re-established?

We aim to elicit discussion about shifting work—non-work boundaries using an Appreciative Inquiry lens (Woods & Lythberg, 2022). For example: Where were there desirable outcomes of increasingly fluid boundaries; where might these be retained and developed; and does any of these have ongoing pedagogical potential? How might work—non-work boundaries be changed for the better by COVID-19's impositions?

Data collection has already begun through a Marsden project, with a focus on Vā relationships and resulting approaches to teaching during COVID-19 (Refiti et al., 2022; Refiti et al., 2021). Workshop participants will be discussing ideas with us and one another, and invited to contribute to a follow-up formal survey/interview (Ethics Application underway).

We have already identified the following themes:

- Smashed resistance to technological paradigm shift
- High-trust environment empowered overnight with high permissiveness, innovation, and accommodating failure
- 'Helping each other' culture
- Pets as a company while working (e.g., Hoffman, 2021; Phillipou et al., 2021; Vincent et al., 2020)—and family/household members
- Innovation around tikanga hosting online hui, talanoa, etc. (Refiti et al., 2021; Refiti et al., 2022)





• Implementing online cues for conversational boundaries, e.g., using emoticons in Zoom and Teams meetings.

How the session will be run

This session invites participants to consider how boundaries became fluid during the COVID-19 period and which coping strategies have value beyond working through the emergency.

- 00-05 Brief Introductions and background
- 05-15 Icebreaker: small group challenge to acknowledge and enable sharing of the holistic lived experience of academics whose boundaries shifted during COVID-19. Identify common themes of boundary fluidity. Completed either with butchers' paper/pens or Google Jamboards (Sweeny et al., 2021).
- 15-30 Participants use the Word Café methodology (Burke & Sheldon, 2010; Estacio & Karic, 2016; Wageningen University & Research, n.d.) and Appreciative Inquiry generative questioning (Woods & Lythberg, 2022). What are the nuggets found that we wish to retain now we are heading back to campus? What worked/is working well? Anticipated discussion of academics' wellbeing themes and success strategies
- 30-40 Collaborative discussion and debrief on above
- 40-45 Wrap up and close

- Basilaia, G., Dgebuadze, M., Kantaria, M., & Chokhonelidze, G. (2020). Replacing the classic learning form at universities as an immediate response to the COVID-19 Virus infection in Georgia. International Journal for Research in Applied Science & Engineering Technology (8) III, 101-108.
- Burke, C., & Sheldon, K. (2010). Encouraging Workplace Innovation Using the 'World Cafe' Model. Nursing Management UK 17 (7) 14–19. https://10.7748/nm2010.11.17.7.14.c8055
- Carr, S., Haar, J., Hodgetts, D., Jones, H., Arrowsmith, J., Parker, J., Young-Hauser, A., & Alefaio, S. (2022). Pandemic or nor, subjective wellbeing pivots about the living wage point: A replication, extension, and policy challenge in Aotearoa New Zealand. Frontiers in Psychology. 13, 2549. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.82808
- Edgeworth, J.D., Batra, R., Nebbia, G., Bisnauthsing, K., MacMahon, E., Sudhanva, M., Douthwaite, S., Goldenberg, S., O'Hara, G., Shankkar-Hari, M., Doores, K.J., Martines- Nunez, Hemsley, C., ... Malim, M.H. (2020). Translational Research in the time of Coivd-19. PLoS Pathog 16(9): e1008898. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1008898
- Estacio, E.V., & Karic, T. (2016). The World Café: An innovative method to facilitate reflections on internationalisation in higher education. Journal of Further and Higher Education, 40(6), 731-745. https://10.1080/0309877X.2015.1014315
- Gourlay, L., Littlejohn, M.O., & Potter, J. (2021). Lockdown literacies and semiotic assemblages: academic boundary work in the Covid-19 crisis. Learning, Media and Technology, 46(4), 377-389. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2021.1900242
- Hoffman, C. (2021). The experience of teleworking with dogs and cats in the United States during Covid-19. Animals, 11(2), 268.
- Morrison, P.S., Rossouw, S., & Greyling, T. (2022). The impact of exogenous shocks on national wellbeing: New Zealanders' reaction to Covid-19. Applied Research in Quality of Life, 17, 1787-1812.https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-021-09977-9
- Phillipou, A., Tan, E. J., Toh, W. L., Van Rheenen, T. E., Meyer, D., Neill, E., ... & Rossell, S. L. (2021). Pet ownership and mental health during COVID-19 lockdown. Australian Veterinary Journal, 99(10), 423-426.





- Pownall, M., Harris, R., & Blundell-Birtill, P. (2021). Supporting students during the transition to university in COVID-19: Five key considerations and recommendations for educators 2021. Psychology Learning & Teaching, 21(1). 3-18. https://doi.org/10.1177/14757257211032486
- Refiti, A.L., Engels-Schwarzpaul, A-C., Lopesi, L., Lythberg, B., Waerea, L., & Smith, V. (2021). Vā at the time of COVID-19: When an aspect of research unexpectedly turns into lived experience and practice. Journal of New Zealand & Pacific Studies, 9(1), 77-85. https://doi.org/10.1386/nzps_00049_7
- Refiti, A.L., Engels-Schwarzpaul, A-C., Lythberg, B., Smith, V., & Waerea, L. (forthcoming 2022). A Different Kind of Vā: Spiraling through Time and Space. The Contemporary Pacific, 34(2) TBA.
- Smith, C. (2022, August 23). Resetting boundaries: Why Kiwi workers are joining the 'quite quitting' trend. New Zealand Herald.
- Stephens, L.E. (2021). More than students... a pedagogy of kindness. SCHOLE: A Journal of Leisure Studies and Recreation Education https://doi.org/10.1080/1937156X.2021.1986434
- Sweeney, E. M., Beger, A. W., & Reid, L. (2021). Google Jamboard for virtual anatomy education. The Clinical Teacher. https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.13389
- Trefalt, Š. (2013). Between you and me: Setting work-nonwork boundaries in the context of workplace relationships. Academy of Management Journal, 56(6), 1802-1829. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2011.0298
- Vincent, A., Mamzer, H., Ng, Z., & Farkas, K. J. (2020). People and their pets in the times of the COVID-19 pandemic. Society Register, 4(3), 111-128.
- Wageningen University & Research (n.d.). Multi-stakeholder partnerships: Tool 13, World Cafe. http://www.mspguide.org/sites/default/files/tool/13msp_tools_world_cafe_13.pdf
- Wepfer, A. G., Allen, T. D., Brauchli, R., Jenny, G. J., & Bauer, G. F. (2018). Work-life boundaries and well-being: Does work-to-life integration impair well-being through lack of recovery? Journal of Business and Psychology, 33(6), 727-740. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-017-9520-y
- Woods, C. & Lythberg, B. (forthcoming 2022) 'The Questions We Ask Are Fateful': Connecting and Communicating Through Appreciative Inquiry and Kind Research. Knowledge Cultures 10(3) TBA.





'Fofola le fala' – inviting everyone on to the mat. Embedding Pacific pedagogies and culture into the Pacific & Global Health major at the University of Otago [Mapusua]

Talai Mapusua Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, Rose Richards Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago,

The research and its significance

Traditional settings of academic learning within a formal institution are often in the form of a lecture theatre. The pitched floor and tiered seating styled venues where the majority of classes take place is a common aspect of the student experience at the University of Otago. The lecturer stands at the front of the lecture room and spends much of the lecture time speaking to the mass of students seated before them. Both traditional styled lectures and the physical layout of this environment can be restrictive to creating an interactive and immersive learning experience.

The Pacific & Global Health major has been taught at the University of Otago since 2018 as part of the recent Bachelor of Health Sciences degree. In this time students, both Pacific and non-Pacific have walked into lecture rooms that have been transformed to replicate a community *fono*, a space for Cook Islands dancing, a Pacific health provider and kava space as the environment for codesigning solutions for Pacific health. Not only has the physical spaces been reshaped, the relational space for which such learning takes places has also transformed through *fofola le fala*.

Our teaching methods moves beyond the information and knowledge students obtain from lecture slides and towards learning by being immersed in Pacific cultural practices. Our teaching methods aim to provide students with a wholesome experience when learning about Pacific health. *Fofola le fala*, a Samoan cultural practice where mats are rolled out as a gesture of welcoming guests, or to gather a family to discuss important matters, is a method of teaching used to facilitate engagement and building connections in our papers taught at the University of Otago. Entering this space is both exciting and nerve wracking for students, far from the traditional setting of a lecture room or theatre. The physical act and metaphor of *fofola le fala* provides a learning experience for students to participate in various activities that are reflective using a *talanoa* methodology. In his discussion paper, Vaioleti (2006) describes *talanoa* as an ancient practice of multi-level and multi-layered critical discussion and free conversations in the Samoan context. He also describes potentiality as an aspect of talanoa in the Tongan context, where engaging in social discussions can lead to more critical discussions. These descriptions and use of talanoa influence and shape both the learning and the environment that is created for this learning to take place within our teaching.

How the session will be run

The session will involve the rolling out of Samoan mats to create an environment that resembles a village chiefs council meeting, or a meeting of the 'aiga potopoto' or extended family. Participants will be invited to engage in a migration activity that is underpinned by Pacific values such as reciprocity, love, respect, family and relationships. This activity encourages us to reflect on the journeys our families and ancestors have taken to prepare or lead us towards the opportunities that allow us to achieve goals and thrive in the place we now call home, Aotearoa.





What can we learn from reflecting on academic identities in higher education? [Mori]

Yoko Mori, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, moryo752@student.otago.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

In this workshop, I facilitate a session for reflecting on academic identities: what does it mean to think, act, and feel like an academic, notably, academics who are deeply concerned about improving teaching and learning like the TERNZ Conference participants? Understanding what kind of space academics live in and its relation to their identities is believed to be the key to answering this question. For instance, academic developers, a particular community of academics in higher education, are depicted in literature as "university management's teaching and learning foot soldiers" (Manathunga, 2007, p. 26) in a "third space profession" (Kensington-Miller et al., 2015) which often involves negotiating for legitimacy. Identity is important to who we are, our values and, as a consequence, what we prioritise in work (Sternszus, 2016). A greater understanding of one's identity is usually associated with making better decisions in work and life. However, this task is difficult and rare to do as a group as we often consider our lives stable in relation to the social norms we experience and understand. In this workshop, I seek to examine the relationship between academic work activities and how our identities shape these. As a group, we can learn from others as each explains their identity position regarding specific aspects of academic work, because each position is unlikely to be the same. Here, I am interested in how academics view the relationship between research and teaching.

How the session will be run

To set the scene for reflection time, I start with sharing a reflection video of my doctoral journey which has impacted my growth in academia. As an academic developer, I will share a 'Model of Academic Developer Identity' adapted from O'Sullivan and Irby's model (2014), and participants reflect on their respective academic journeys. Here, the model serves to visualise academic identity development. The personal reflection will be followed by group discussions, and then to reflection as a whole. The workshop will consist of "a family of strangers" (Harland & Staniforth, 2008) but hopefully, will end as a family *from* sharing the same time and space for reflection. Sharing of experiences, as well as cultivating a strong knowledge base, is believed to enrich the foundation on which to build a professional identity as academics. I wrap up the workshop by posing an inquiry, "As academics, are we living in a liminal (i.e., in-between) space between teaching and research, either, or both?"

~10 min	Sharing my reflection: Participants watch a video, 'My doctoral journey'	
~ 5 min	Explanation on activities: Visualising academic identities	
~10 min	Personal reflection: Participants reflect on their own journey individually.	
~15 min	Small Group reflection: Individuals share their reflections with group members.	





~10 min	Reflection as a whole: Participants from each group share reflections from small group.	
~ 5 min	Wrap up as a whole: "As academics, are we living in a liminal (i.e., in-between) space between teaching and research, either, or both?"	

- Harland, T., & Staniforth, D. (2008). A family of strangers: The fragmented nature of academic development. Teaching in Higher Education, 13(6), 669-678. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562510802452392
- Kensington-Miller, B., Renc-Roe, J., & Morón-García, S. (2015). The chameleon on a tartan rug: Adaptations of three academic developers' professional identities. The International Journal for Academic Development, 20(3), 279-290. https://doi.org/10.1080/1360144X.2015.1047373
- Manathunga, C. (2007). 'Unhomely' academic developer identities: More post-colonial explorations. The International Journal for Academic Development, 12(1), 25-34. https://doi.org/10.1080/13601440701217287
- Sternszus, R. (2016). Developing a professional identity: A learner's perspective. Theoretical insights into the nature and nurture of professional identities. In R. L. Cruess, S. R. Cruess, & Y. Steinert (Eds.), Teaching medical professionalism: Supporting the development of a professional identity (2 ed.) (pp. 26-36). Cambridge University Press.





Operating under the radar: Uniting in a Community of Practice [Rowan]

Linda Rowan, Te Kunenga Ki Pūrehuroa | Massey University, l.m.rowan@massey.ac.nz Nicola Macaulay, Te Kunenga Ki Pūrehuroa | Massey University, n.g.macaulay@massey.ac.nz

Ruth Gibbons, Te Kunenga Ki Pūrehuroa | Massey University, r.gibbons@massey.ac.nz Te Awatea Ward Te Kunenga Ki Pūrehuroa | Massey University, z.ward@massey.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Teaching or tutoring in a university can be a solitary journey. New or junior academic teachers may be inducted into institutional reporting and accountability systems and processes, however mentoring and support beyond this can be highly variable (Kensington-Miller, 2021). This absence of support results in problems when teachers encounter situations or issues that confound them: where do they go to for support, if indeed there is sufficient expertise within the institution. It is within this context our Dyslexia Awareness Community of Practice (DACoP) evolved. A tutor realized that assessment work did not represent the ability of the student or expected level of academic writing. After attending a dyslexia workshop, the tutor went looking for colleagues with expertise in this area of student learning.

Communities of Practice are groups of people with a common interest who meet regularly to improve what they do in their teaching, and in our case to raise awareness of dyslexia. True to Wenger's notion of a community of practice evolving and continuing out of persistence, the "excitement, relevance and value" generated by a few individuals 5 years ago has enlivened and engaged new members and is now extending into new networks (Wenger et al., 2002). Our community of practice fits well within Barab et al. (2002) description as "a persistent, sustaining social network of individuals who share and develop an overlapping knowledge base, set of beliefs, values, history and experiences focused on a common practice and/or enterprise" (p. 5).

The direction and effectiveness of the DACoP has evolved and unwittingly followed de Carvalho-Filho et al. (2020) tips for development. Stage one, saw individuals working in isolation with a common focus come together to produce a video promoting teacher awareness of dyslexia. In stage two, using the impetus and knowledge within and the openness of the CoP (Wenger et al., 2002), the group composition changed. The momentum from this switch has produced significant milestones in the CoP visibility and connection with other researchers, spinning-off other communities of practice at Massey University, and new research projects. In the next phase we want to intersect with other Aotearoa tertiary teachers to create a wider community of practice of academics seeking to support and research on support that works for dyslexic or neurodivergent students and/or staff.

How the session will be run

This workshop is for those who are interested in supporting dyslexic and neurodivergent students and/or staff in tertiary education, and those working towards the Tertiary Education Strategy priorities of learner achievement and wellbeing, reducing barriers, and strengthening teaching practice through taking learners' needs and identities into account in planning and practice (Tertiary Education Commission Te Amorangi Mātauranga Maori, 2020).





Our workshop will:

Share practice on what it takes to set up a dynamic community of practice to raise awareness of an issue, to identify and address a problem (15 minutes).

In groups, discover what networks are currently operating within universities, polytechnics and Wānanga which support dyslexic or neurodiverse staff and/or students (10 -15 minutes).

Establish means of communication for collaboration, and (5 -10 minutes)

Discuss possibilities for collaborative research through communities of practice (10 minutes).

- Barab, S. A., Barnett, M., & Squire, K. (2002). Developing an Empirical Account of a Community of Practice: Characterizing the Essential Tensions. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, *11*(4), 489-542. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327809JLS1104 3
- de Carvalho-Filho, M. A., Tio, R. A., & Steinert, Y. (2020). Twelve tips for implementing a community of practice for faculty development [Article]. *Medical Teacher*, *42*(2), 143-149. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1552782
- Kensington-Miller, B. (2021). 'My attention shifted from the material I was teaching to student learning': the impact of a community of practice on teacher development for new international academics. *Professional Development in Education*, 47(5), 870-882. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2019.1677746
- Tertiary Education Commission Te Amorangi Mātauranga Maori. (2020). *The Tertiary Education Strategy*. https://www.tec.govt.nz/focus/our-focus/tes/
- Wenger, E., McDermott, R., & Snyder, W. M. (2002). Seven Principles fro cultivating Communities of Practice. In *Cultivating Communities of Practice: A guide to managing knowledge*. Harvard Business School.





Using three years of qualitative student feedback to improve course design and delivery [Scott]

Jennifer Scott, Te Kunenga Ki Pūrehuroa | Massey University, j.scott2@massey.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

The research reports on the findings of student experience surveys across 305 unique course offerings from 2019 – 2021 within Massey University's School of Management. All qualitative comments (more than 6000 lines of data) from surveys were collated and thematically analysed to find the 'why' behind student satisfaction scores on course evaluations. The purpose of consolidating the surveys was to ensure student comments and suggestions were not read in isolation by individual teaching staff, but to explore and highlight themes of positive and negative aspects of courses relating to student experiences. Reducing the potential granularity of feedback and sharing the drivers behind good and bad student learning experiences can help academic staff design and deliver courses in a way that responds to the broader student voice. Staff can leverage feedback beyond what students have provided in a single course evaluation to learn what works and what to avoid from other courses, to strengthen the understanding of students' experiences and improve future course design and delivery.

The results provide a clear picture of student perceptions toward course design and delivery, noting congruence of themes across many courses; students are not simply excited about or dissatisfied with one element of one course. By highlighting themes from multiple courses, staff can look beyond their own course and leverage rich feedback for course improvement. Areas that curriculum developers and teaching staff can focus on to improve the student learning experience focused on: curriculum coherence, teaching styles (including preparation and commentary to help students make connections), learning materials (including readings, audio-visual artefacts, and online learning environments), communication (including clarity and timeliness), assessment (engaging tasks that help development - for learning not just of learning), and feedback both on assessment tasks and in general learning situations.

How the session will be run

The focus of the session will include both a presentation of the data and discussion of the applicability of the findings in various settings – different student cohorts, modes of study, disciplines, and institutions. After setting the scene (background of the research), initial engagement will include participants considering whether they look forward to student evaluations (why or why not), how useful they think course evaluations are (and underpinning reasons), and how the feedback loop is closed (with students and/or colleagues). The themes that arose in the research will be further unpacked with participants asked to consider the findings alongside their own course evaluations and consider how the mass feedback might inform their own future design and delivery. Challenges and opportunities will be discussed in terms of acting on the findings and presenting them to those responsible for design and delivery of curriculum. Participants will also be engaged in discussions about how academic departments might enhance student evaluation at various levels and various points along a student's learning experience (beyond singular course evaluations).





Teacherpreneurship: An integrated framework and its practicality among the 21st century university teachers [Shawkat]

Farah Shawkat, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, farah.shawkat@otago.ac.nz

Ben Daniel, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, ben.daniel@otago.ac.nz Russell Butson, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, russell.butson@otago.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Dall et al. (2018) proposed an education transformation framework in which they recommended pedagogical transformation with the inclusion of modern teaching and learning techniques to transform educational institutions. Studies have suggested various pedagogical frameworks for teachers to adopt and a list of skill sets for students to master in the 21st century (Fore and Moritz 2020; World Economic Forum 2016). Nevertheless, a lack of research in higher education suggests the need for a framework of competencies for university teachers to adapt to teaching 21st century students. One of the ideas to emerge during this period is the concept of teacherpreneurship. According to Jose Vilson, teacherpreneurship is a futuristic concept (Berry et al., 2013) adopted by many forward-thinking, progressive teachers. Though the concept of teacherpreneurship can be considered abstract, such changemakers are present among us and currently collaborating with their colleagues as digital teachers to reimagine the learning environment in higher education and to promote the lifelong growth of graduates.

A teacherpreneur is typically defined as a proactive change agent who has a vital role in advancing new approaches to teaching and learning; in particular, a teacherpreneur integrates new digital technologies to support the development of digital ecosystems that facilitate the proliferation of knowledge among students and teachers. Being a teacherpreneur does not make the teacher an entrepreneur but does give the teacher an entrepreneurial spirit (Berry, 2015).

To develop the teacherpreneurship framework, the available literature was reviewed in the first phase, and empirical data (n=77) were analysed. Furthermore, semi-structured individual interviews were conducted in the second phase (n=22) to seek experts' opinions and evaluate the teacherpreneurship framework's practicality. In this research, interview participants' data are thematically presented with the focus on developing the teacherpreneurship framework, adaptive teaching approaches by incorporating digital technologies in the changing learning environment (during the pandemic teaching experience), and participants' perceptions of different factors influencing innovative teaching practice.

How the session will be run

The session includes interactive activities and discussion sessions on introducing the concept of teacherpreneurship in higher education. The session will be divided into three phases. In the first phase, a puzzle activity will be played to introduce the concept of teacherpreneurship. Next, further elaboration of the topic will be undertaken. Lastly, participants will be distributed some sample teaching scenarios to initiate deeper discussion on the concept.

Phase 1: Puzzle activity to introduce the topic (5+10=15 minutes)





Participants will be divided into groups and asked to solve short puzzles.

Presenter will then give a short introduction, drawing on the puzzle exercise to explain the concept of teacherpreneurism.

Phase 2: Elaboration of the topic (13+2=15 minutes)

Presenter will elaborate on the concept by analysing interview data in developing the teacherpreneurship framework.

Participants will be requested to jot down and share their thoughts on 21st century university teachers/teaching practices.

Phase 3: Analysing teaching scenarios in groups (20 minutes).

Each group will be given a teaching scenario to analyse and share their understanding with others.

- Berry, B. (2015). Teacherpreneurs: cultivating and scaling up a bold brand of teacher leadership. *New Educator*, 11(2), 146–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/1547688X.2015.1026786
- Berry, B., Byrd, A., & Wieder, A. (2013). *Teacherpreneurs: innovative teachers who lead but don't leave*. Jossey-Bass.
- Dall, I., Dickinson, D., Payne, R., & Tierney, S. (2018). *Empowering the students of today to create the world of tomorrow*. Microsoft. https://news.microsoft.com/uploads/prod/sites/66/2018/06/Transforming-Education-eBook_Final.pdf
- Fore, H. H., & Moritz, R. E. (2020). *Reimagining the future of skills: What do young people think? | World Economic Forum*. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/07/reimagining-future-skills-what-we-learned-young-people/





I did it my way: Academic-decision-making explored through a Bourdieusian social-theory lens [Shephard]

Kerry Shephard, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, Kerry.shephard@otago.ac.nz

Keely Blanch, Te Whare Wananga o Ōtakou | University of Otago, keely.blanch@otago.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Educational institutions have their conventions and means to ensure that academics adhere to these. Universities may expect their academics to publish research in research-led journals, to obtain reasonable personal-PBRF scores, and to receive good feedback from students about their teaching. Confirmation, tenure track, annual appraisal and promotion are all useful tools to keep us on track. But what if academics choose to do their job in their own way? How might that work out and how might such questions be theorised and researched?

This research asked nine academics to describe an important academic decision and the circumstances in which they made it. Researchers provided no prescription of the nature of that decision other than that it should be important to them. Interviews identified that most participants chose to describe a decision to either change their role in academia or leave academia altogether. Reoccurring themes emphasised that participants' decision-making, in the context of the chosen decision, was influenced by a perceived mismatch between their own values and those of their institution, by concerns about their personal autonomy, and by their experiences of collegiality. The analysis used Bourdieu's concepts of habitus, capital and field to explore how individual and institutional habitus shaped the decisions that these academics made. The study concluded that academics can use their personal academic-freedom, or autonomy, as a form of capital that can be exchanged for economic and symbolic capital, to enable their preferred decision and find their academic niche. Similarly, an institution's academic-freedom is also a form of exchangeable capital, but a form that may require managing the freedom of its academics if it is to advance institutional status, or to relinquish status if it chooses not to.

This session will help participants to collectively theorise their own academic freedom and perceptions of autonomy and institutional collegiality.

How the session will be run

The session might encourage participants to share potentially-sensitive academic experiences and decisions, and will need to be managed to avoid excessive self-expression, to support shared reflections on practice, and to encourage academic abstraction of personal experiences and points of view. The session will involve small group conversations, structured plenary discussions and brief presentations of social theory.

10 minutes ... A conversation in small groups; sharing how individuals may have done things at work that others may not approve of, or that are 'unconventional' ... with institutional support and without it.

15 minutes ... Plenary to introduce everyone in the group and to identify some key research questions that our conversations elicited.





10 minutes ... Brief presentation to describe Bourdieusian social theory and how it can be used to theorise social systems.

5 minutes ... Small group conversations to explore possible conflicts between the academic freedom of individuals and the academic freedom of institutions.

5 minutes ... Brief plenary to brainstorm some next steps on researching academic decision-making.

- Malcolm, W., & Tarling, N. (2007). Crisis of identity? The mission and management of universities in New Zealand Wellington, Dunmore.
- Rosewell, K., & Ashwin, P. (2019). Academics' perceptions of what it means to be an academic. Studies in Higher Education, 44(12), 2374–2384. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2018.1499717
- Rowlands, J. (2018). Deepening understandings of Bourdieu's academic and intellectual capital through a study of academic voice within academic governance. Studies in Higher Education, 43(11), 1823–1836. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2017.1284192
- Wacquant, L. (1992). Toward a social praxeology: The structure and logic of Bourdieu's Sociology. In P. Bourdieu & L. Wacquant (Eds.), An invitation to reflexive sociology (pp. 1-60). Oxford, UK: Polity Press and Blackwell Publishers.
- Webb, J., Schirato, T., & Danaher, G. (2002). Understanding Bourdieu. Crow's Nest, AU: Allen & Unwin.





Student attendance: before, during and after a pandemic [Shephard]

Kerry Shephard, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, kerry.shephard@otago.ac.nz

Sheena Townsend, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, sheena.townsend@otago.ac.nz

Arlene Allan, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, arlene.allan@otago.ac.nz Hoa Luong, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, hoa.luong@otago.ac.nz Tiffany Trotman, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, tiffany.trotman@otago.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Covid-19 has been challenging for many higher-education teachers around the world. Many university teachers have had to take their conventional courses, designed for face-to-face teaching, and rapidly transfer them to an online environment. Lectures, tutorials, practical classes and exams have occurred via videoconference systems, field trips have been virtual, and the experiences for teachers and students have dramatically changed. Even in 2022, teaching is often occurring in hybrid-mode and those physically present wear masks. Some teachers have experienced precipitous declines in attendance (especially on Zoom and for large groups, for lectures and for sessions related to lectures, such as flipped-classroom sessions) while for others these changes have simply punctuated already noticeable long-term declines in lecture attendance. The events of 2020/2021/2022 have raised the prospect that what we did before, while perhaps better than what we are doing now, is not necessarily a blueprint for what we should seek to achieve in the future. Practices of higher education teaching and learning may not have kept pace with wider societal expectations, and it seems inevitable that universities will need to redesign themselves to address increasingly uncertain links between attendance, engagement, participation, achievement and accreditation.

Our project, itself Covid-disrupted: integrated 18 university-teachers representing 14 departments in one university; developed a peer-supported professional-learning-community (PLC) to explore the educational discourses relevant to our interests and to manage our collaborative efforts; integrated three extensive bodies of educational knowledge and theory (on attendance; on motivation; and on learning in higher education) into our deliberations; and researched how university teachers understand attendance and its links to motivation and learning.

Our session will enable all participants to share their experiences and thoughts about student attendance, in the context of the roles of our universities, the professional identities of our teachers, the needs of our students, and how these things are changing.

How the session will be run

Our introduction will briefly describe our research questions, how we set about answering them and the nature of our results (5 minutes). The remaining minutes will be devoted to a sequential series of three discussions with project findings being introduced into each discussion only to inform questions that arise from within the discussion. Each discussion will be facilitated by one of the





project members and will be structured around a set of prompting questions listed below (in brackets).

- Is student attendance important to university teachers. (If so, for what reasons? If not, why not? What might the long-term consequences be for HE if students continue to not attend?)
- What are those university teachers for whom attendance is important, doing to encourage attendance, and engagement while attending? (How has personal experience, employment factors or educational theory contributed?)
- Attendance at what? What might replace the lectures that many students do not attend anyhow? (And how might these be better adapted for diverse students nowadays? And with what cost implications for departments and institutions?)

- Billings-Gagliardi, S., Mazor, K.M. (2007) Student decisions about lecture attendance: do electronic course materials matter? Acad Med, 82 (Suppl):73–6.
- Boyer, E. (1990). Scholarship reconsidered: Priorities of the professoriate. Princeton, NJ: Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching.
- Bukoye, O. T. & Shegunshi, A. (2016) Impact of engaging teaching model (ETM) on students' attendance, Cogent Education, 3 (1), 1221191, DOI: 10.1080/2331186X.2016.1221191
- Crawford, J., Butler-Henderson, K., Rudolph, J., Malkawi, B., Glowatz, M., Burton, R., et al., (2020). COVID 19: 20 countries' higher education intra- period digital pedagogy responses. J. Appl. Learn. Teach. 3, 1–20. doi: 10.37074/jalt.2020.3.1.7
- Doran, M. (2021) We need to talk about post-pandemic lectures Nature (Career Column) Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-021-02112-6
- Fabriz S., Mendzheritskaya, J. and Stehle. S. (2021) Impact of Synchronous and Asynchronous Settings of Online Teaching and Learning in Higher Education on Students' Learning Experience During COVID 19. Frontiers in Psychology https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.733554
- Fitzmaurice, M. (2013). Constructing professional identity as a new academic: A moral endeavour. Studies in Higher Education, 38(4), 613–622. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2011.594501
- García-Morales, V.J., Garrido-Moreno A. & Martín-Rojas, R. (2021). The Transformation of Higher Education After the COVID 19 Disruption: Emerging Challenges in an Online Learning Scenario. Frontiers in Psychology https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.616059
- Hodges, C., Moore, S., Lockee, B., Trust, T., & Bond, A. (2020). The difference between emergency remote teaching and online learning. Educ. Rev. 27, 1–12.
- Kovalcikiene, K., Stelmokiene, A., Gustainiene, L., &Geneviciute-Janone, G. (2019). University teachers' professional identity: a role of self-determination theory. Psychological Applications and Trends 2019, 307–309. https://doi.org/10.36315/2019inpact078
- Luttenberger, S., Macher, D., Maidl, V., Rominger, C., Aydin, N., & Paechter, M. (2018). Different patterns of university students' integration of lecture podcasts, learning materials, and lecture attendance in a psychology course. Education and Information Technologies, 23(1), 165–178. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-017-9592-3
- Massingham, P. & Herrington, T. (2006). Does attendance matter? An examination of student attitudes, participation, performance and attendance. Journal of University Teaching & Learning Practice 3(2): 83-103.
- McCune, V. (2021). Academic identities in contemporary higher education: Sustaining identities that value teaching. Teaching in Higher Education, 26(1), 20–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2019.1632826
- Raes, A., Detienne, L., Windey, I., & Depaepe, F. (2020). A systematic literature review on synchronous hybrid learning: Gaps identified. Learning Environments Research, 23(3), 269–290. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-019-09303-z
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. American Psychologist, 55, 68–78.
- Sloan, D, Manns H, Mellor, A & Jeffries, M. (2020) Factors influencing student non-attendance at formal teaching sessions, Studies in Higher Education, 45 (11), 2203-2216, DOI: 10.1080/03075079.2019.1599849





Scaffolding personal and professional development opportunities for doctoral students beyond supervision [Sim]

Kwong Nui Sim, International College of Management Sydney, kwongnui.sim@aut.ac.nz Sarah Stein, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, sarah.stein@otago.ac.nz Michael Rose, University of Surrey, m.rose@surrey.ac.uk

The research and why it is important

23 Things International (https://www.23thingsinternational.com/) is a 14-week, online, self-paced course for doctoral students, supervisors, and early-career researchers, providing engagement with 23 tools/techniques to build academic and research networks, increase familiarity with research resources, and establish professional profiles. The course was launched in 2020 as a collaboration between a UK and two NZ universities. It attracted 250 participants. In 2021, the collaboration expanded to include six universities (two in the UK, two in NZ, and one in each of Australia and the USA) and 400 participants enrolled. This year, 23 Things International's cross-institutional collaboration was extended to include doctoral networks and additional partners: two more UK universities and one in Ireland, the Techné doctoral training partnership for 10 UK Universities, and the Africa Research Excellence Fund, a network for researchers across Africa. 550 participants registered.

While the course is modified each year based on evaluation data, it has come to our attention that there is always a consistent mixture of feedback about participants' preference for being self-paced, with requests for more scaffolding mechanisms to be included within the course. The organising team finds it challenging to strike a balance between the two, especially when the audience is made up of groups that we believe to be relatively autonomous learners. The feedback indicates that this might not be the case. As the world is moving into post-global pandemic times, the need for virtual learning experiences stays with us. Using a theoretical framework describing relationships between humans and technologies contexts (Sim & Stein, 2019), our ongoing work to refine the course involves examining the extent and nature of interventions we might build into future iterations. We aim for the learning opportunities that *23 Things* offers to provide a gradually more nuanced support for the variety of participant learning needs.

How the session will be run

- 1. Participants will be asked to propose a metaphor for online course experiences by composing a sentence/phrase illustrating the metaphor. An example and a prompt to recall their own positive-negative experiences will provide scaffolding for this task.
- 2. Second, the 23 Things course outline will be presented (hard copy). Where possible, links will be made between the outline and participant metaphors. The metaphor underpinning the framework describing relationships between humans and technologies in doctoral education contexts will be explained, including how it relates to the course.
- 3. Third, participants will form small groups and engage in a course modification exercise. Copies of themed feedback from recent course participants will be provided; feedback will be discussed in the light of the 23 Things outline, and the metaphors and framework discussed earlier, with a view to suggesting possible changes; groups will report their discussion.





4. Last, as a whole group, final reflections on the exercise will be invited, particularly in the light of the 'metaphor' that is the essence of the theoretical framework: that humans have/form different kinds of relationships with technology. Concluding comments will point to how the framework may help inform design and developments in any online course.

References

Sim & Stein. (2019). Re-constructing the Roles of Information & Communication Technologies in Doctoral Research Processes. Ako Aotearoa.





The implementation of pastoral care in residential colleges: Firstyear student and sub-warden perspectives and experiences of pastoral care [Spronken]

Abby Spronken, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, sprab458@student.otago.ac.nz

Rob Wass, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, rob.wass@otago.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

This study explores the implementation of pastoral care in residential colleges through a comparison of Sub-warden and first-year student perspectives and experiences of pastoral care. The focus on pastoral care is due to the introduction of the Education (Pastoral Care of Tertiary and International Learners) Code of Practice 2021 (hereafter referred to as 'the Code'), which is required to be followed and enacted by tertiary accommodation services and support staff. This Code follows the Education (Pastoral Care) Amendment Act (2019), which was introduced after a student passed away at the University of Canterbury in 2019, and aims to make tertiary accommodation safer for all students across Aotearoa. The Code has a focus on supporting learner well-being and safety to enable academic achievement. There is a paucity of literature on pastoral care in student accommodation, especially in relation to the Code (2021), and this research intends to positively contribute to further knowledge within this area.

To gain a rich insight into the experiences of Sub-wardens and students, I am using a qualitative approach, collecting data from at least three residential colleges, using semi-structured interviews and focus groups.

In the presentation I will share and discuss preliminary findings from interviews with Sub-wardens and students. These findings suggest that Sub-wardens within colleges require more knowledge about the Code and their role within enacting it, and we have found that they could further benefit from a clearer understanding of the expectations students have when receiving care within a college. This study is important because it will contribute to knowledge on the implementation of the Code within tertiary student accommodation in Aotearoa. The findings from this study could reveal exemplary pastoral care practices, but it may also highlight areas which need improvement.

How the session will be run

In this session I will provide a brief (10 minute) overview of my research, covering the background context, rationale, and research methods. I will discuss the significance and key takeaways from my research. Then I will share parts of my preliminary findings, including quotes from students and Subwardens, and themes from initial analysis, to spark conversation amongst the group. In particular, I will be seeking the input of the group on pastoral care practices across Higher Education, to see whether they have insights within their area or institution. After this discussion, I will then present a brief overview of a proposed set of guidelines for how pastoral care can be improved within residential colleges. This will lead to discussion of the suggested guidelines in terms of their scope and nature, and whether those in the session find them appropriate for a residential college setting, or their own area of practice.





Preparing PhD candidates for careers: can we do better? [Spronken-Smith]

Rachel Spronken-Smith, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, rachel.spronken-smith@otago.ac.nz

Kim Brown, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, kim.brown@otago.ac.nz Claire Cameron, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, claire.cameron@otago.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Our research is motivated by a desire to support PhD candidates as they transition into careers. In the last few decades, with widening participation in doctoral study alongside a contraction in the availability of tenured academic positions, only about 40-50% of PhD graduates in the western world enter careers in higher education. Past research has revealed PhD graduates feel ill-equipped to enter careers, even academic ones! Consequently, our research explores perceptions of career preparedness in PhD graduates and seeks to understand whether better support is needed.

In this session we report on a comparative case study between New Zealand and US universities. Using mixed methods, we captured survey data from 136 PhD graduates (including 84 graduates from two US universities and 52 from a New Zealand university) and interviewed 21 graduates (12 from US universities and nine from NZ). Our findings reveal very limited career planning during doctoral study as few had engaged with career services, except towards the end of their study. Moreover, there was very poor understanding of career options, exacerbated by immersion in an environment that often promoted academia as the only successful outcome of doctoral study. Our findings indicated a deep level of dissatisfaction in some graduates who suggested they had been led to believe that gaining a PhD would result in them obtaining an academic position — an outcome that did not eventuate for many. For others, admitting they did not want an academic position often led to dismissive behaviour from supervisors and departments. Although graduates recognised the transferrable nature of a PhD, many desired better support to develop key transferrable skills and attributes. We consider implications for doctoral education, including how PhD candidates, supervisors, departments, and the institution, can better support career development.

How the session will be run

In this session we will first provide a brief (5 minute) overview of our research, covering the background context, rationale, and research methods. Then we will share extracts of our findings, including graphs and quotes, to spark conversation amongst the group. In particular, we will be seeking the input of the group to elucidate the factors in the doctoral education environment that promote and inhibit career development in PhD graduates. We will then present a brief overview of a proposed development of a suite of micro-credentials to better support the preparedness of PhD graduates for employment. This will lead to discussion of the suggested micro-credentials in terms of their scope and nature.





Medical Students' Perspectives of Evaluation and Research Requests [Tater]

Jessica Tater, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, tater.jessica@gmail.com Tony Zaharic, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, tony.zaharic@otago.ac.nz William Guy, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, williamjguy@gmail.com Jon Cornwall, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, jon.cornwall@otago.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

The study aimed to i) determine the volume and frequency of evaluation and research requests second and third year Otago Medical School students receive, and ii) explore student perceptions and attitudes towards evaluation and research requests.

An audit of evaluation and research requests students received in 2022 has been undertaken, recording information such as request date, departmental origin, time commitment, and incentive. A retrospective audit of the Otago University ethics applications from 2017-2021 was conducted to gauge research request volume to medical students from previous years. Preliminary audit information of evaluation and research requests guided the design of a survey that investigated student perceptions of the difference between evaluation and research requests, whether the current volume and frequency is reasonable, and how these requests are perceived.

In 2022, total evaluation requests were n=39 (Year 2 students) and 31 (Year 3 students)), and research requests n=8(Y2) and 10(Y3). Audit of previous ethics applications (n=2950) showed research request volumes were consistent with previous years. Survey response rate was 29% overall (n=80 (Y2), 91 (Y3)). 70% of students felt they received too many evaluation requests, 76% felt evaluation request volume should be limited, and 30% noting that receiving evaluation requests was 'a little stressful'. Students prefer to receive research and evaluation requests at the start of each semester, with exam and holiday times least preferred.

Medical students are highly sought after as evaluation and research participants. Findings suggests that access to this particular group requires oversight to ensure students are not adversely affected by evaluation volume or frequency. The data is also likely to be generalisable to other student cohorts, allowing other institutions to use these findings to understand student perspectives and inform recommendations around delivery of evaluation and research requests.

How the session will be run

- 0-5 Welcome and whakawhanaungatanga
- 5-10 Present an overview of the background, audit data, survey results, and topic significance to those involved in tertiary education
- 10-25 Divide into small groups (3-4 persons) to brainstorm the following:

What kind of evaluation and research requests do students in your department or school receive? How do medical students compare to these other university students?

Should research and evaluation requests to students be considered separately, or together?





What do you think would make students more or less likely to engage with evaluation and research requests?

Are there any ways in which evaluation and research requests are currently recorded or regulated?

25-40 Reporting back from small groups, to record and consolidate key points from the conversations

40-50 In small-groups, problem-solve ways in which key points can be addressed (e.g., guidelines and recommendations) to:

Identify the issues

Contribute practical solutions

Show consideration of ethical implications

45-50 Summary and discussion of proposed solutions

50-55 Wrap-up, thanks, conclude session





Constructing a 'worthwhile gap' statement to justify research in higher education studies [Wald]

Navé Wald, Te Whare Wānanga o Ōtākou | University of Otago, nave.wald@otago.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

In undertaking research in the field of higher education we seek to advance our collective knowledge on a particular issue. Claiming a 'gap' in the literature as a metaphor for something that is different, lacking or missing has been a dominant rhetorical tool used by researchers to justify their research; however, just because something is missing, or lacking, does not guarantee addressing it would make a contribution. For that, the importance of the gap should be established, so that a 'worthwhile gap' is claimed. Research addressing a worthwhile gap is not only likely to advance knowledge in a field but also arguably has better chances for being accepted for publication in leading journals. Yet, constructing a convincing worthwhile gap is a cognitively challenging task and, in our experience, it is too often hard to find a clearly articulated research gap, let alone an explanation for why that gap is worthwhile filling. Therefore, we sought to learn how the task of constructing a research gap is approached in the field. For that, we conducted a document analysis of 124 articles from five top-ranked higher education journals and analysed how and on what basis gap statements were claimed. We found that most articles do have a gap statement, but these are mostly implicit rather than explicit, and not always easily identifiable. With that, one-fifth of the articles in the sample had no gap statement and over a quarter had no justification for the importance of the research. Since good research necessitates providing a clear and strong rationale and claiming a gap has been a widely used technique for doing so, we argue for the importance of making worthwhile gap statements and present a model to help with writing them.

How the session will be run

This session is for those who conduct, supervise and/or review research in higher education. The objective is to introduce a model for claiming and evaluating a 'worthwhile gap' as a justification for research. The first section of the session (20 minutes) will include an overview of the roles and purposes of claiming gaps across different disciplines. A critique of 'gap-spotting' as well as different typologies of research gaps will be presented. Then the empirical research and its finding will be offered, including the problematic practice of 'justification by association'. This will be followed by the introduction of a model for worthwhile gap statement construction and purpose. In the second section (20 minutes), participants will work in groups to use the model to evaluate and critique gap statements from published papers. The third section (15 minutes) will include a reflective discussion on the usefulness of the model and, looking forward, what would constitute best-practice regarding providing justifications for research and contribution to knowledge in the field of higher education. The key take-away for participants is the importance of research justification for advancing knowledge and successful publication of research papers.





Caring for students in the post-pandemic university: the challenge for tutors and sessional staff [Wood]

Amanda Wood, Te Herenga Waka | Victoria University of Wellington, amanda.wood@vuw.ac.nz

Sandi Tait-McCutcheon, Te Herenga Waka | Victoria University of Wellington, sandi.mccutcheon@vuw.ac.nz

Alex Walker, Te Herenga Waka | Victoria University of Wellington, alex.walker@vuw.ac.nz

The research and why it is important

Students come to university with different backgrounds, experiences and needs. Many of them will require care and support at some time during their study, but care and higher education have a fraught relationship. Universities are frequently described as managerial institutions within a neoliberal paradigm that is at odds with a caring pedagogy (Mutch & Tatebe, 2017). Despite this, universities across the globe are prone to enthusiastically focusing upon the term 'care' within their policies and strategic documents (Walker-Gleaves, 2019), and research suggests that students value being cared for by teaching staff (Chasteen Miller & Mills, 2019). A caring teacher – and more broadly a caring relationship – has been identified as a powerful factor for encouraging student retention and academic success (Buskirk-Cohen & Plants, 2019).

Increasingly, students in today's higher education (HE) are reporting stress, mental health problems, feelings of disconnectedness and isolation. Changes in delivery expediated by the pandemic, as well as rising costs and increasing student numbers have altered the experience of higher education for our students. In particular, there are fewer opportunities for HE teachers to provide a caring environment for all students; their sheer numbers and dispersal preclude this. As a result, the caring role often falls to those least equipped and resourced to provide it, tutors.

This research explores the experiences of tutors and other sessional teachers caring for students. In this session we will discuss the issues surrounding these teachers and ask,

- a) What is the place of care in a post-pandemic university?
- b) To what extent is training tutors to provide pastoral care to students appropriate?
- c) What can and do universities do to support these teachers?

How the session will be run

The session will begin with a short discussion about the nature of care in today's universities and discuss the differences between immediate care often provided by teachers as part of their teaching role and the care offered by the support services provided by the institution. We will ask participants to reflect on their own experiences of providing a caring learning environment for all students.

After a short presentation about the research that has led to this discussion, the participants will be allocated to groups and asked to explore the differences they identified in more depth. They will be asked to consider the questions listed above and feed back to the whole group.

Timing for the session:





- Introductory discussion on caring in today's universities and participants' experiences (15 min)
- Short presentation on research (5 min)
- Group activity: perspectives on providing care (20 min)
- Feedback and discussion (15 min)

- Buskirk-Cohen, A. A., & Plants, A. (2019). Caring about Success: Students' Perceptions of Professors' Caring Matters More than Grit. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 31(1), 108–114.
- Chasteen Miller, A., & Mills, B. (2019). 'If They Don't Care, I Don't Care': Millennial and Generation Z Students and the Impact of Faculty Caring. *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, 19(4). https://doi.org/10.14434/josotl.v19i4.24167
- Mutch, C., & Tatebe, J. (2017). From collusion to collective compassion: Putting heart back into the neoliberal university. *Pastoral Care in Education*, *35*(3), 221–234. https://doi.org/10.1080/02643944.2017.1363814
- Walker-Gleaves, C. (2019). Is Caring Pedagogy Really So Progressive? Exploring the Conceptual and Practical Impediments to Operationalizing Care in Higher Education. In P. Gibbs & A. Peterson (Eds.), *Higher Education and Hope: Institutional, Pedagogical and Personal Possibilities* (pp. 93–112). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13566-9_5